California State University, Monterey Bay Digital Commons @ CSUMB

Capstone Projects and Master's Theses

Capstone Projects and Master's Theses

Spring 2019

The Effect of Operational Sex Ratio on the Reproductive Biology of Two Sex-Changing Fish (Rhinogobiops Nicholsii and Lythrypnus Dalli)

Stephen Pang California State University, Monterey Bay

Follow this and additional works at: https://digitalcommons.csumb.edu/caps_thes_all

Recommended Citation

Pang, Stephen, "The Effect of Operational Sex Ratio on the Reproductive Biology of Two Sex-Changing Fish (Rhinogobiops Nicholsii and Lythrypnus Dalli)" (2019). *Capstone Projects and Master's Theses.* 638. https://digitalcommons.csumb.edu/caps_thes_all/638

This Master's Thesis (Open Access) is brought to you for free and open access by the Capstone Projects and Master's Theses at Digital Commons @ CSUMB. It has been accepted for inclusion in Capstone Projects and Master's Theses by an authorized administrator of Digital Commons @ CSUMB. For more information, please contact digitalcommons@csumb.edu.

THE EFFECT OF OPERATIONAL SEX RATIO ON THE REPRODUCTIVE BIOLOGY OF TWO SEX-CHANGING FISH (*RHINOGOBIOPS NICHOLSII* AND *LYTHRYPNUS DALLI*)

A Thesis

Presented to the

Faculty of

Moss Landing Marine Laboratories

California State University, Monterey Bay

In Partial Fulfillment

of the Requirements for the Degree

Master of Science

in Marine Science

by Stephen Pang

Spring 2019

CALIFORNIA STATE UNIVERSITY, MONTEREY BAY

The Undersigned Faculty Committee Approves the

Thesis of Stephen Pang:

THE EFFECT OF OPERATIONAL SEX RATIO ON THE REPRODUCTIVE BIOLOGY OF TWO SEX-CHANGING FISH (*RHINOGOBIOPS NICHOLSII* AND *LYTHRYPNUS DALLI*)

Scott Hamilton, Advisor Moss Landing Marine Laboratories

Michael Graham Moss Landing Marine Laboratories

Mark Steele California State University, Northridge

Approved by the Dean of Graduate Studies ${oldsymbol{\mathscr{P}}}$

Kris Roney, Dean Associate VP for Academic Programs and Dean of Undergraduate and Graduate Studies

21 May 2019

Approval Date

Copyright © 2019

by

Stephen Pang

All Rights Reserved

ABSTRACT

THE EFFECT OF OPERATIONAL SEX RATIO ON THE REPRODUCTIVE BIOLOGY OF TWO SEX-CHANGING FISH (*RHINOGOBIOPS NICHOLSII* AND *LYTHRYPNUS DALLI*)

by

Stephen Pang Master of Science in Marine Science California State University Monterey Bay, 2019

By targeting the largest individuals in a population, size-selective fisheries can influence the life history traits and population parameters of exploited fish stocks. For protogynous (female-to-male) hermaphrodites, this type of harvest is also sex-selective since it preferentially removes males from the population. These differences in sex-specific survival can lead to populations that are heavily female-biased. While males historically have not been considered a limiting factor when assessing the health of gonochoristic populations, modeling work suggests that reduced male abundance and skewed sex ratios could cause a concomitant decline in the reproductive output of protogynous hermaphrodite populations. This study used two nestbrooding sex-changers, Lythrypnus dalli and Rhinogobiops nicholsii, to examine the effect of operational sex ratio on reproductive and nesting success, growth, and rates of sex change. Fish were outplanted on artificial patch reefs at varying sex ratios and their reproductive output was monitored by photographing eggs laid in artificial nests. Sex ratios ranged from 1:1 to 1:19 male:female. Fish were tagged so that growth and sex change could be determined upon recollection from the artificial reefs. For both L. dalli and R. nicholsii, total egg production, female per capita production, average production per nest, and the number of nests per reef were not affected by sex ratio. By contrast, male per capita production and the percentage of males that nested significantly increased as sex ratios became more female-biased. For R. nicholsii, growth rates were highest for individuals that completed sex change during the experimental period. During the breeding season, the frequency of sex change for *R. nicholsii* was highest on reefs that were strongly female-biased; there was no effect of sex ratio on the frequency of sex change during the non-breeding season. In L. dalli and R. nicholsii, it appears that males do not limit the reproductive output of heavily female-biased populations-as had been predicted by previous modeling work. Instead, for species that defend demersal nests, intrasexual competition between males (i.e., territory and mate monopolization) or females (i.e. competition for nest space) may limit total production when operational sex ratios are more balanced or more femalebiased, respectively. As sex ratios became skewed in favor of females, male-male competition was relaxed and individual males became more reproductively successful; the discrepancy in per capita production between males and females at skewed sex ratios indicates that some females would increase their reproductive success by undergoing sex reversal (as demonstrated by R. nicholsii during the breeding season). It is possible that some of the results on reproductive success from this study are specific to nest-brooding or pair spawning species.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

ABSTRACT	iv
LIST OF TABLES	vi
LIST OF FIGURES	vii
INTRODUCTION	1
MATERIALS AND METHODS	
Study Species	
Study Site	
Experimental Design	
Analyses	
Comparing Natural to Experimental Populations	
Quantifying Production	
Male Limitation and Reproductive Output Responses	
Growth and Sex Change Responses	
RESULTS	
Size Distribution and Sex Ratios in Natural Populations	
Male Limitation and Reproductive Output Responses	
Growth and Sex Change Responses	
DISCUSSION	
Comparing Natural to Experimental Populations	
Male Limitation and Reproductive Output Responses	
Growth and Sex Change Responses	
Fishery Management Implications	
CONCLUSIONS	
REFERENCES	
TABLES	
FIGURES	

LIST OF TABLES

Table 1 : GLM (Poisson with overdispersion) results testing the relationship between sex ratio and the per capita production of <i>Lythrypnus dalli</i> males. The \triangle AICc shows the difference in	
AICc between the 'best' (A), second 'best' (B), and the full (C) model	54
Table 2 : GLM (Poisson with overdispersion) results testing the relationship between sex ratio and the per capita production of <i>Rhinogobiops nicholsii</i> males. The Δ AICc shows the difference in AICc between the 'best' (A), and the full (B) model.	ce 55
Table 3 : GLM (Poisson with overdispersion) results testing the relationship between sex ratio and the average production per clutch of <i>Rhinogobiops nicholsii</i> . The Δ AICc shows the difference in AICc between the 'best' (A), second 'best' (B), and the full (C) model	. 56
Table 4 : ANCOVA results testing the relationship between the type of sex change and the growth rate of <i>Rhinogobiops nicholsii</i>	57

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1: The two species used for the field manipulations in this study: (a) bluebanded goby (Lythrypnus dalli) and (b) blackeye goby (Rhinogobiops nicholsii) 58
Figure 2: A map of the study site, Big Fisherman's Cove, located on the western end of Santa Catalina Island and adjacent to the Wrigley Marine Science Center. The gray squares within the cove represent the artificial reefs used in this study
Figure 3: The artificial reefs located in Big Fisherman's Cove, Santa Catalina Island, California. (a) Side view showing the cage covering an artificial reef, with a diver for scale. (b) Top-down view of a reef with the cage removed, showing the 4 separate subreefs within each reef
Figure 4: The artificial nests used for (a) <i>Lythrypnus dalli</i> and (b) <i>Rhinogobiops nicholsii</i> . <i>L. dalli</i> reefs were equipped with sixteen 15.2 cm PVC tubes while <i>R. nicholsii</i> reefs used five overturned terra cotta saucers. 61
Figure 5: The visual implant elastomer (VIE) tagging scheme used to mark the standard length and sex for <i>Lythrypnus dalli</i> individuals. Marks on (a) the left and (b) right side of the fish. A similar tagging scheme was used for <i>R. nicholsii</i>
Figure 6: <i>Lythrypnus dalli</i> egg broods were manually counted using the ImageJ Image Processing program to determine brood size. (a) Unprocessed photo of an <i>L. dalli</i> egg brood and (b) the manually counted brood with a mark placed over each egg
Figure 7: <i>Rhinogobiops nicholsii</i> egg broods were subsampled to determine brood size. First, the area of the brood was calculated by (a) outlining the brood in the ImageJ Processing Program. Second, (b) a 1x1 cm grid was imposed on top of the picture and 5 randomly selected cells were counted to obtain the average egg density. Brood size was calculated by multiplying the calculated area by the average egg density. 64
Figure 8: Size structure of all (a) <i>Lythrypnus dalli</i> and (b) <i>Rhinogobiops nicholsii</i> individuals collected from natural reefs throughout the summer field seasons (2015-2017)
Figure 9: The proportion of males (i.e., sex ratio) of (a) <i>Lythrypnus dalli</i> and (b) <i>Rhinogobiops nicholsii</i> that were caught during each collection dive throughout the field season. Red lines represent the two extremes of the sex ratio treatments in the manipulative portion of this study. Dashed lines represent natural sex ratios reported in previous studies
Figure 10: Fertilization function for <i>Lythrypnus dalli</i> . Shown is the relationship between the proportion of males (i.e., sex ratio) and the fertilization rate (percentage of fertilized eggs on each reef) in <i>L. dalli</i>

Figure 11: The relationship between sex ratio and the (a) total number of eggs per reef, (b) the female per capita production per reef, (c) the male per capita production per reef, (d) the average number of eggs per nest, and the (e) average number of eggs per clutch for *Lythrypnus dalli*.... 68

Figure 12: The relationship between sex ratio and the (a) number of nests per reef and the (b) Figure 13: The relationship between sex ratio and the (a) number of clutches per reef and the (b) Figure 14: Fertilization function for *Rhinogobiops nicholsii*. Shown is the relationship between the proportion of males (i.e., sex ratio) and the fertilization rate (percentage of eggs in each nest Figure 15: The relationship between sex ratio and the (a) total number of eggs per reef, (b) the female per capita production per reef, (c) the male per capita production per reef, (d) the average number of eggs per nest, and the (e) average number of eggs per clutch for *Rhinogobiops* nicholsii 72 Figure 16: The relationship between sex ratio and the (a) number of nests per reef and the (b) Figure 17: The relationship between sex ratio and the (a) number of clutches per reef and the (b) Figure 18: The growth per week of *Rhinogobiops nicholsii* individuals separated by block during the (a) breeding and (b) non-breeding season. The bars represent the sex of the individual at the time of placement on the reefs and the sex of the individual after recollection (~4 weeks). Transitional fish were females that were undergoing sex change but were not considered Figure 19: The relationship between growth and the initial size of *Rhinogobiops nicholsii* Figure 20: The relationship between sex ratio and the proportion of females on each reef that changed sex (from female to male) in *Rhinogobiops nicholsii* during the (a) breeding and (b)

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

This thesis is the culmination of 3.5 years of hard work by an enormous team of dedicated individuals. While the road has often been bumpy, these wonderful people have helped me navigate it to its end. I would first like to thank my advisor, Dr. Scott Hamilton who has been instrumental in my development as a researcher and as a professional. I have no doubt that I would not be where I am in my career if it were not for his continual guidance and well-written letters of recommendation. Our dynamic has always been...interesting; certainly an advisor-student relationship that I would not describe as "typical" for most graduate students. But it's this dynamic that has made my time spent with him—in school, in the field, and at the bars—so memorable. He's not only one of the most brilliant researchers I've ever had the pleasure of working with, but he helped show me again that science should be fun.

I would like to thank Dr. Mark Steele, whose decades of experience with gobies at Catalina (pers. comm., Neylan 2015) were invaluable when preparing this thesis. His approaches to field work and data analysis (which were often different from my advisors—both were great although Scotts were obviously *more* great) helped me develop critical thinking and problem-solving skills that I will continue to carry with me as I progress in my career. The final committee member I would like to thank is Dr. Michael Graham. The classes that Mike taught at MLML were undoubtedly some of the best classes I have ever taken and helped lay the foundation for how I would approach my thesis dataset.

Additionally, I wanted to thank Dr. Maria Adreani and Dr. Will White. Both were Principal Investigators on this project (in addition to Dr. Hamilton and Dr. Steele) and helped secure the funding to make this thesis possible. Will's feedback on my models was critical in shaping the narrative that is laid out in the following pages. And while Mia has an abundance of academic merits, I believe her ability to withstand my never-ending onslaught of gibberish and innuendos to be her most remarkable quality. And something that made our surface intervals far, far more entertaining.

While much of my time for this thesis was spent modeling and writing, I would not have been able to tell this story if I did not have the data to do it with. And for that, I have my enthusiastic field crew to thank: Erika Nava, George Jarvis, Alexis Estrada, Casey Benkwitt, Darrin Ambat, Kathryn Scafidi, Tyler Gerome, Katie Neylan, Courtney Thompson, Kyle Mooers, Maddie Guest, and Emily Nixon. Not only were these people able to spend 3+ months with me on an isolated island without any noticeable decline in mental well-being, they busted their butts day in and day out to get it done. After hundreds of dives and countless hours in the lab, they continued to show up every morning ready to do it all over again.

I would like to thank the staff at the Wrigley Marine Science Center for providing the logistical support necessary to complete the field work for this thesis. In particular, I would like to thank: Juan Carlos-Aguilar, Trevor Oudin, Chad Burtrum, Eric Castillo, Gordon Boivin, Lauren Czarnecki-Oudin, Kellie Spafford, and Chase Puentes.

And while the academic experiences at MLML have made this a truly incredible experience, the non-academic social experiences outside of the program have been just as memorable. If it were not for my friends, both at Moss Landing and at Catalina, I would have lost what little remains of my sanity long ago. I could not have asked for a better cohort—Matt Jew, Laurel Lam, Cody Dawson, Holly Chiswell, Justin Cordova, Amber Reichert, and Steve Cunningham—to embark on this journey with. Our times spent at Rays after midterms, finals or Open Houses will always be remembered (?). To my Catalina family—Chase "Burrito" Puentes, George Jarvis, Russell Dauksis, Griffin Srednick, Juan-Carlos Aguilar, Phil Lopez, Lauren Stultz, Kevin Job, Josh Graybiel, Johan Aghevli, Jewely Aguilar, Alex Frady, and Vivian Kim—thank you for making my field seasons out there some of the happiest times of my life. You made that tiny island truly feel like a home and the first round of Buffalo Milks are on me when we return.

Finally, I would like to thank my wonderful parents, Judy and Rayne, for being my biggest supporters. They have always encouraged me to pursue my interests and have always been there to guide me when I have stumbled. I am so fortunate to have been raised by some of the most caring and considerate people that I have ever met. Without them, none of this would have been possible. I love you.

INTRODUCTION

Naturally occurring size-selective mortality is prevalent in many aquatic systems. Gape limitation often constrains the diets of predators to prey that can be swallowed—leading to increased vulnerability of smaller individuals to predation (Leggett and DeBlois 1994; Hare and Cowen 1997). Conversely, zooplanktivorous fishes that forage visually often preferentially feed on larger prey items, resulting in increased survivorship of smaller individuals (Brooks and Dodson 1965; Janssen 1980; Newman and Waters 1984).

Fisheries attempting to target the largest individuals in a population can be a major source of size-selective mortality. In the commercial sector, this size-selective tendency (which may ultimately be driven by consumer demand or preference) is often due to the selectivity of the fishing gear (Millikin and Williams 1984; MacLennan 1992). Gear type allows fishermen to target specific size classes, e.g., large hook and mesh size have been shown to selectively remove larger individuals, which consequently increases the survivorship (and thus fitness) of smaller size classes (Ricker 1981; Russ 1991; Stergiou et al. 1997; Platten et al. 2002; Sutter et al. 2012). In the recreational sector, size-selectivity may be present if fishermen are limited by minimum size or bag limits; by targeting the largest individuals, anglers and spear fishermen are able to maximize their catch.

In the long-term, continuous size-selective mortality can reduce phenotypic and genetic variation (Stokes and Law 2000). Typically, natural selection selects for fast growing individuals because by attaining larger sizes more quickly, individuals are able to escape predation by avoiding predators with smaller gape sizes (Hare and Cowen 1997). Because of this increased susceptibility to predators, smaller and slower growing individuals naturally have the highest mortality (Leggett and DeBlois 1994). Directional selection against larger individuals, as

exhibited by fisheries-induced evolution, selects for slow-growing individuals, which results in a decline in length-at-age and body weight after years of exploitation (Ricker 1981; Conover and Munch 2002; Sinclair et al. 2002; Hawkins and Roberts 2003; Hamilton et al. 2007).

This decrease in average fish size has implications for the reproductive success of exploited populations. Removing the largest individuals in a population decreases the number of mature age classes, which can be particularly problematic for long-lived species if individuals are removed from the population before they mature, eliminating their ability to spawn (Kelly et al. 1999; Andrews et al. 2001). Older age classes also confer additional benefits to the reproductive success of populations. Big, old, fecund, fat females (BOFFFs) play a disproportionately important role during spawning. In addition to producing more eggs (gamete production is typically related to total fish length), these large females may produce eggs with a higher oil content, which leads to increased survivorship relative to eggs of smaller females (Berkeley et al. 2004).

While many fish are gonochoristic (i.e., sexes are separate; male and female reproductive organs are in different individuals), a number of commercially and recreationally important fish are hermaphroditic (i.e., individuals have male and female gonadal tissue, either at the same time or at different phases of the life cycle). This hermaphroditism is explained by the "size-advantage model" which predicts that if the amount of offspring produced at a given body size differs between the sexes, then a sex-changing individual can take advantage of these differences to produce more offspring than an individual limited to a single sex (Ghiselin 1969; Ghiselin 1975; Warner 1988; Munday et al. 2009). Differences in reproductive output between the sexes largely occur due to (1) the relative number of male and female gametes produced and (2) the mating strategy of the species (Warner 1970).

There are two major types of hermaphrodites: simultaneous and sequential. Simultaneous hermaphrodites have functional female (ovarian) and male (testicular) gonadal tissue concurrently whereas sequential hermaphrodites have only one gonadal tissue functioning at a time (although the type of tissue can switch during sex reversal) (Warner 1970; Sadovy and Shapiro 1987). Sequential hermaphroditism can be further divided into protogyny and protandry. Protogyny (female-to-male sex change) typically occurs when species exhibit a polygynous mating system (males mate with many females) while protandry (male-to-female sex change) occurs when species exhibit a monogamous or random mating system (Warner 1970; Alonzo and Mangel 2005; Munday et al. 2011). Sex change in sequential hermaphrodites is governed by endogenous and/or exogenous behavioral mechanisms (Warner 1970). Endogenous factors are static cues that trigger sex change once a certain threshold (e.g., absolute size or age) is reached; exogenous factors are external cues from the environment, such as the size of the individual relative to other members of its social group (Bullough 1947; Armsworth 2001; McErlean and Smith 1964; Ross et al. 1983; Shapiro 1987; Provost and Jensen 2015).

The life history of sex-changing fishes presents a unique management problem since most gonochoristic fisheries models cannot be applied to protogynous hermaphrodites (Bannerot et al. 1987; Russ 1991; Armsworth 2001). Traditionally, female biomass (and the spawning potential ratio) has been used as a proxy for population health in gonochoristic species, while the contribution of males has largely been ignored (Punt et al. 1993; Coleman et al. 2000; Alonzo and Mangel 2004). This is done because (1) sperm is energetically cheap to produce and (2) males are able to spawn with multiple females (Bateman 1948; Marconato et al. 1995; Heppell et al. 2006; Alonzo et al. 2008). In protogynous populations though, the possibility of reduced fertilization rates may necessitate using male biomass or the biomass of both sexes to accurately estimate biological reference points (Brooks et al. 2008). Furthermore, these models for protogynous stocks need to incorporate sex change since populations will lose female biomass but not total biomass—as females transition to males (Alonzo et al. 2008).

Most traditional models also ignore sex-specific characteristics and sex-specific survival (Heppell et al. 2006; Alonzo et al. 2008). In some protogynous species, males experience a burst of growth after sex change, which allows them to establish dominance over large females and to better compete with existing males; this accelerated growth may push males into size classes that are more vulnerable to fishing (therefore increasing their mortality when compared to non-transitioning individuals) (Aldenhoven 1986; Ross 1987; Warner 1991; Garratt et al. 1993; Walker and McCormick 2004). Similarly, protogynous males often have a higher likelihood of interacting with fishing gear due to their larger size, greater aggression, and higher energy requirements (Côté 2003; Sutter et al. 2012). Since spawner-recruit curves may depend on the relative abundance of females and males, differences in catchability and sex-specific mortality rates also need to be incorporated into assessments (Punt et al. 1993; Heppell et al. 2006).

Intensely harvested protogynous species routinely exhibit fishery-induced changes to life history traits. In exogenous sex-changing species, the timing of maturation and sex change can occur at younger ages and smaller sizes when populations are heavily harvested (Buxton 1990; Cowen 1990; Warner and Swearer 1991; Buxton 1992; Buxton 1993; Claro et al. 2001; Gust et al. 2001; Gust et al. 2002; Platten et al. 2002; Hawkins and Roberts 2003). In California sheephead (*Semicossyphus pulcher*), a heavily fished protogynous species, females matured earlier and underwent sex reversal at younger ages and smaller sizes after intense exploitation (Hamilton et al. 2007). A decreased mean size and age for females could lead to decreased egg production and reduced population fecundity. In species that change sex based on endogenous cues, populations may be unable to compensate for intense harvest on ecological time scales; if individuals are removed before they are able to reach the age or size necessary for sex change, males could be completely removed from the population (Hawkins and Roberts 2003). Spatial variation in life history and population parameters, in response to spatial variation in fishing intensity and selectivity, can confound spatially based fisheries management and necessitate more localized management (Gust 2004).

In sequential hermaphrodites, size-selective fishing is also sex-selective by disproportionately removing a single sex from a harvested population (Alonzo et al. 2008). In the case of protogynous hermaphrodites, targeting the largest individuals in a population will preferentially remove males. Sex ratios in protogynous hermaphrodites are often already skewed in favor of females and this sex-selective fishing can often add even greater female bias in heavily fished populations (Garratt 1985; Beets and Frielander 1992; Buxton 1992; Buxton 1993; Coleman et al. 1996; Wyanski et al. 2000; Hawkins and Roberts 2003; Hamilton et al. 2007; Shepherd et al. 2010). This trend is especially obvious in gag grouper (*Mycteroperca microlepis*), a protogynous species that aggregates to spawn, where the proportion of males fell from 14% to 1.9% after only 10 years of exploitation in the Gulf of Mexico (Hood and Schlieder 1992; Coleman et al. 1996; Coleman et al. 1998).

Severely skewed gender ratios in exploited protogynous populations can lead to male limitation and a reduction in reproductive output (even if female biomass remains high) (Alonzo et al. 2008). This decrease in reproductive output may be due to: (1) females being unable to find mates, (2) a male's inability to successfully defend their territories or nests, or (3) sperm limitation (Gray and Powell 1964; Powell et al. 1973; Nakatsura and Kramer 1982; Møller and Legendre 2001; Hines et al. 2003; Alonzo and Mangel 2004). Sperm limitation can occur if the remaining males spawn repeatedly without sufficient time to rebuild sperm stores (Smith and Jamieson 1991; Marconato et al. 1995; Hines et al. 2003). Alternatively, males in exploited populations may be too immature or too small to produce a sufficient amount of sperm (Lovrich et al. 1995; Sainte-Marie et al. 1997). Both of these situations ultimately lead to an increase in the number of unfertilized eggs and a decrease in total population production.

Several modeling studies have examined how fishing might impact the productivity of protogynous stocks, with varying results. Early work indicated that protogynous populations were considerably more susceptible to harvest and crashed at lower fishing mortalities when compared to gonochoristic stocks (Bannerot et al. 1987; Huntsman and Schaaf 1994). In contrast, more recent work suggests that protogynous hermaphrodites should perform better than gonochoristic stocks when subjected to size-selective (i.e., large size classes) fishing, since fecundity and fertility (in the absence of sperm limitation) will remain high, whereas gonochoristic species would lose BOFFF's to fishing mortality (Alonzo and Mangel 2004; Alonzo and Mangel 2005). It is difficult to unequivocally say whether gonochoristic or protogynous stocks are more sensitive to fishing. With that said, male and sperm limitation are predicted to impact the reproductive success of protogynous species more significantly than comparable gonochoristic stocks (although gonochores may also be vulnerable to sperm limitation when spawning aggregations are very small) (Bannerot et al. 1987; Alonzo and Mangel 2005).

While past field surveys have documented the effect of male and sperm limitation in natural populations, they have largely focused on sessile and sedentary free-spawning invertebrates (Lessios 1988; Levitan 1992; Sewell 1994; Lasker 1996; Yund 2000; Hines et al. 2003). And while other work has focused more specifically on the effects of sex ratio skew in protogynous hermaphrodite species, these investigations have largely been confined to computer simulations rather than manipulative field experiments in a natural setting (Huntsman and Schaaf 1994; Armsworth 2001; Alonzo and Mangel 2004). One field experimental study examined the relationship between sex ratio and reproductive output in a nest-brooding temperate goby species (*Lythrpnus dalli*; Kapus and Fong 2014), but focused primarily on individual reproductive success (i.e., male and female per capita production) as opposed to population-level reproductive success (i.e., total production).

In this study, I expanded on the work done by Kappus and Fong (2014) and investigated the influence of operational sex ratio on reproductive and nesting success, sex change, and growth in two species of temperate goby (family *Gobiidae*), *Lythrypnus dalli* and *Rhinogobiops nicholsii*. I hypothesized that as populations become more female-biased, there would be a decrease in the number of viable eggs produced (i.e., reproductive output) and that this reduction in reproduction would largely be due to sperm or male limitation. Similarly, I predicted that other reproductive metrics (e.g., the number of nests, the number of egg clutches in a population, etc.) would also be reduced as sex ratios became skewed in favor of females. I hypothesized that sex change would occur most frequently in populations that were strongly female-biased and that growth would be fastest in individuals that undergo sex reversal.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Study Species

Lythrypnus dalli

The bluebanded goby (*Lythrypnus dalli*; Fig. 1a) is a subtropical and temperate zone fish that ranges from southern California, USA to Baja California, Mexico. It typically associates with rocky substrata—particularly vertical faces and rubble—and can be found from the shallow subtidal zone to depths up to 30 m, with densities exceeding 100 individuals/m² (Wiley 1976; Behrents 1983; St. Mary 1993; St. Mary 1994; Steele 1997; Kappus and Fong 2014). These small fish (adult standard length = 18-45 mm) are short lived, with a life expectancy of 1.5-2 years (St. Mary 1994).

Lythrypnus dalli is a hermaphroditic species that exhibits both sequential and simultaneous components (Ghiselin 1969). *L. dalli* individuals experience protogynous sex change (female-to-male) but occasionally also exhibits sex reversal (male to female). Based on gonadal allocation, individuals can be distinguished as: pure female (100% ovarian tissue), female-biased (>95% ovarian tissue), male-biased (>95% testicular tissue), and pure male (100% testicular tissue); but despite gonadal allocation often containing both ovarian and testicular tissue, individuals only adopt one behavioral gender (St. Mary 1994). While this type of life history provides plasticity and increased reproductive potential (e.g., unsuccessful males can revert back to females), less than 15% of males exhibit reverse sex change, despite only one male being necessary for fertilization and nest defense (St. Mary 1994). Male-to-female sex reversal may be limited to males that possess viable ovarian tissue, meaning that only male-biased individuals can reverse sex change from male to female (St. Mary 1994). Sex change in *L. dalli* typically takes approximately 2 weeks although in some strongly female-biased individuals, the

transition can take as little as 2 days (St. Mary 1994; Rodgers et al. 2007). Sex change appears to be governed by exogenous factors (such as social hierarchy) and seems to be consistent with the size-advantage model (Ghiselin 1969; Warner 1970; Warner 1988; Rodgers et al. 2005).

Lythrypnus dalli is a territorial nest-brooding species with a single socially dominant male spawning with a harem of females. Sex ratios in natural populations exhibit considerable temporal and spatial variation, with males becoming the predominant sex (>50% of the population) during the non-breeding season, but sex ratios being female biased during the breeding season, typically range from 1:2.5 to 1:5 males:females (Behrents 1983; Kappus 2012). Nests typically consist of rocky crevices, worm tubes, or snail shells (St. Mary 1993). Breeding typically occurs between April and October, during which individual males guard nests that females lay eggs in; multiple females may lay eggs within the same nest with individuals laying up to 1,300 eggs per clutch (St. Mary 1993; St. Mary 1994). Larvae hatch from eggs in 4-10 days with a planktonic phase of around 6-10 weeks (St. Mary 1993; St. Mary 1994; Shanks et al. 2003; Archambeault et al. 2015). Juveniles begin to settle in June, with settlers maturing within a month (St. Mary 1993; St. Mary 1994; Steele 1997).

Rhinogobiops nicholsii

The blackeye goby (*Rhinogobiops nicholsii*; Fig. 1b) is a cryptic fish found in temperate waters from Baja California, Mexico to British Columbia, Canada (Breitburg 1987; Kroon 1997; Kroon et al. 2000). They typically associate with rocky substrata on subtidal reefs and can be found from the shallow subtidal zone to depths of up to 100 m (Wiley 1973; Breitburg 1987). *R. nicholsii* is relatively small (maximum standard length = 100 mm) and has a life expectancy of up to 5 years (Wiley 1973; Cole 1983).

Rhinogobiops nicholsii is a sequential protogynous hermaphrodite that changes sex from female to male (although primary males do exist) (Cole 1983; Kroon 1997). This sex change is governed largely by exogenous cues, although endogenous factors are suspected to play a role. There is a distinct social organization/hierarchy that is somewhat, but not absolutely, correlated with size (Wiley 1973). The most aggressive behavior is exhibited between mature males of similar size with larger individuals winning a higher percentage of agonistic interactions (Wiley 1973; Kroon et al. 2000). Sex change in *R. nicholsii* takes a minimum of 4 weeks (Cole 1983; Kroon 1997).

Rhinogobiops nicholsii is a territorial (year-round defense) nest-brooding species with a single socially dominant male that spawns with a harem of females (Wiley 1973; Kroon 1997). The sex ratio in natural *R. nicholsii* populations varies both temporally and spatially but typically ranges from 1:1.7 to 1:6 male:females (Wiley 1973; Cole 1983; Breitburg 1987; Kroon et al. 2000). Males select and prepare a nest, which consists of a chamber under hard substrata (e.g., rocks, crevices, shells, or other hard objects) to which eggs are attached. Nest building is intermittent and alternates between courtship and other social behavior. Once eggs have been laid, the male defends, cleans, and fans the eggs; nests may contain eggs from multiple females (Wiley 1973). The breeding season typically occurs between March and July although the duration appears to vary by location with some sites spawning year-round if water temperatures remain cool enough (Wiley 1973; Cole 1983; Breitburg 1987; Kroon 1997; Kroon et al. 2000; Schram and Steele 2016). Eggs hatch after 1-3 weeks with individuals then entering a planktonic phase for around 10 weeks (Kroon 1997; Shanks et al. 2003; Schram and Steele 2016).

Study Site

Field work was conducted in Big Fisherman Cove (BFC), Santa Catalina Island, California, USA (33⁰26'41"N, 118⁰29'8"W, Fig. 2). This westerly facing cove is surrounded by rocky reefs on the south, east, and north sides, with a sandy bottom in the middle that ranges from approximately 5 m deep at the shallowest areas to 30 m deep in the middle of the cove. The sandy bottom is bordered by a small rocky reef at the southern and eastern ends of the cove. There are a number of mooring blocks and chains interspersed throughout the cove. The cove is moderately protected but is exposed to swells from the northwest during storm events. Water temperatures range from 10°C (late spring) to 21°C (late summer). Anchoring and fishing are prohibited within the cove, which helped prevent anthropogenic disturbances.

The state of California established BFC as a Marine Life Refuge in the mid-1980s and it is now part of the larger Blue Cavern State Marine Conservation Area. Fishes typically found within BFC include kelp bass (*Paralabrax clathratus*), barred sand bass (*Paralabrax nebulifer*), California sheephead (*Semicossyphus pulcher*), Garibaldi (*Hypsypops rubicundus*), halfmoon (*Medialuna californiensis*), señorita (*Oxyjulis californica*), rock wrasse (*Halichoeres semicinctus*), blacksmith (*Chromis punctipinnis*), ocean whitefish (*Caulolatilus princeps*), leopard sharks (*Triakis semifasciata*), and bat rays (*Myliobatis californica*) (Hobson and Chess 1976).

Experimental Design

This study examined how sex ratio affects the reproductive and nesting success, sex change, and growth of the protogynous hermaphrodites *L. dalli* and *R. nicholsii*, which were used as a model system (Fig. 1a and 1b). While *L. dalli* exhibit characteristics of protogyny and

simultaneous hermaphroditism (i.e., individuals that possess both ovarian and testicular tissue), they were considered to be functionally protogynous hermaphrodites for the scope of this study (St. Mary 1994; Reavis and Grober 1999). While the two study species have similar reproductive strategies, they were selected because differences in size, sex-change dynamics, fecundity, and nesting behavior may cause the reproductive output of each species to respond differently to skewed sex ratios. For example, a species with proportionally larger testes may be less affected by sperm limitation due to relatively greater gamete production. Furthermore, *R. nicholsii* nest sites typically cover a larger area than *L. dalli* nests. If males are limited to only one nest site during the breeding season (and male limitation is not due to sperm limitation), this increased nest size could allow for more egg clutches from mates, which might diminish the effects of male limitation. Finally, these species were selected because their small home ranges make them good candidates for field experiments.

To examine how male limitation affects the reproductive process of these sex-changing fishes, a total of 20 artificial reefs were constructed within BFC. Up to 40 individuals were used for *L. dalli* while only 20 fish were used for *R. nicholsii*. Ten different sex ratio treatments were used for *L. dalli* (ranging from 1:1 to 1:19 male:female and a 1:39 male:female treatment); 9 different sex ratio treatments were used for *R. nicholsii* (ranging from 1:1 to 1:19 male:female). The 9:11 male:female treatment was not used for either species. Reproductive output was then monitored for each local population (i.e., reef). The experiments for each species were conducted in separate field seasons, with *L. dalli* and *R. nicholsii* being used in 2016 and 2017, respectively. One round of the field experiments was performed for *L. dalli* while two rounds were performed for *R. nicholsii*.

Artificial reefs within BFC were separated into 2 blocks that were distributed between 2 rows (Fig. 2). Reefs were separated from adjacent reefs and other existing structures (e.g., mooring blocks) by 10 m of sand to discourage the movement of individuals between reefs. Reefs were 2x2 m in area and contained 4 separate sub-reefs in each corner. Sub-reefs consisted of a cinder block surrounded by small rocks and were established to prevent a single male from suppressing the reproduction of other males (Fig. 3b). Rocks were collected from a beach to the east of BFC known as "the Quarry" (33°26'31"N, 118°28'17"W). The cinder blocks and rocks were lowered to the seafloor using ropes and buckets. Free divers descended with the buckets before discharging the contents on the sea floor. Mesh was placed beneath the cinder blocks and rocks to prevent them from sinking into the sandy bottom. The reefs were arranged while on SCUBA after the necessary cinder blocks, rocks, and mesh had been placed on the substrate. After the reefs were arranged, wire mesh (1x1 in) cages were constructed and placed over the reefs to minimize predation and increase survivorship of L. dalli and R. nicholsii (Fig. 3a). Gill netting was sewn onto the wire mesh to further discourage predation by piscivorous fish. The cages were attached to the bottom mesh using reusable cable zip ties to reduce possible sources of entry.

To quantify reproductive output, nests were photographed so that the eggs could later be analyzed for a number of different metrics. To simplify the documentation process, artificial nests were placed on the reefs to promote spawning in specific sites (Fig. 4). Reefs that contained *L. dalli* had 16 polyvinyl chloride (PVC) tubes (4 per sub-reef) containing a rolled, sanded acetate sheet; each tube was 1.5 cm in inner diameter and 15.2 cm in length, and was sealed on one end with an end cap (Fig. 3b and 4a). *L. dalli* willingly spawn in these tubes on the acetate sheets, which can be removed to easily examine the egg clutches (St. Mary 1994; St. Mary 1996). *R. nicholsii* reefs had 5 overturned terra cotta saucers (1 per sub-reef and 1 at reef center) to serve as artificial nests (Fig. 4b); previous work has shown that *R. nicholsii* readily lay eggs on the underside of these saucers (Schram and Steele 2016). The PVC tubes and terra cotta saucers (for *L. dalli* and *R. nicholsii*, respectively) were examined every 7 days for eggs. When found, eggs were photographed. The terra cotta saucers on reefs with *R. nicholsii* were photographed directly whereas the acetate sheets from the PVC tubes *L. dalli* spawned in were placed upon a dive slate with a 1x1 cm grid (for scale) before being photographed.

Lythrypnus dalli and R. nicholsii that were used in the experiments were captured from nearby sites along the northwest end of Catalina Island. L. dalli were captured from Isthmus Reef (33°26'52"N, 118°29'23"W), and *R. nicholsii* were captured from Lion Head Point (33°27'12"N, 118°30'6"W), Big Geiger Cove (33°27'34"N, 118°31'4"W), Little Geiger Cove (33°27'27"N, 118°30'56"W), and the Quarry (33°26'31"N, 118°28'17"W). Fish were collected by SCUBA divers using handnets, placed into Nalgene bottles, and taken to the lab at Wrigley Marine Science Center (WMSC) where they were placed into holding tanks. Captured individuals were sedated with tricaine mesylate (MS-222) (0.07 gm/L and 0.1 gm/L for L. dalli and R. nicholsii, respectively) and the sex and size of each individual was determined. Sex was determined by examining the genital papilla of each individual under a microscope (Cole 1983; Drilling and Grober 2005). The standard length (SL) was determined by measuring each individual with a dial caliper. Each fish was then given 2 tags using visual implant elastomer (VIE) designating the individual's sex and size at the time of tagging (Fig. 5). After the fish were recollected, these tags permitted the calculation of growth rates and were used to determine if sex change had occurred during the field experiment. VIE tags have been shown to have no effect on the growth or mortality of individuals (Malone et al. 1999).

Healthy, tagged, sexually mature fish were transplanted onto the artificial reefs the following morning at the desired operational sex ratios and densities. Fish were transported from the lab to the artificial reefs in plastic bags filled with seawater and were released while on SCUBA. Any fish that died during transplantation were immediately replaced with unused individuals from the lab. R. nicholsii reefs had 20 individuals on each reef and 9 different sex ratio treatments (ranging from 1:1 to 1:19 male:female). The 9:11 male:female sex ratio was not used as little change in reproductive output was expected at that end of the range. Instead, 4 artificial reefs had the 1:19 male:female treatment as male limitation was expected to be most extreme at this end of the spectrum. All other treatments had 2 replicates (i.e., reefs). Similar to the R. nicholsii reefs, the L. dalli reefs were stocked with 20 individuals, although two reefs were outplanted with 40 individuals. Forty individuals per reef was still representative of L. dalli densities in natural populations (although 40 fish would not have been appropriate for R. nicholsii densities). The L. dalli sex ratios ranged from 1:1 to 1:19 male: female with an additional 1:39 male: female treatment; the 9:11 male: female treatment was, again, not used. A 1:39 male: female ratio was used since an even more skewed sex ratio could provide results not seen in the *R. nicholsii* experiment if the skew in the 1:19 treatment was not extreme enough. Each block (10 reefs/block) received each sex ratio treatment except for the 1:19 male:female treatment on the *R. nicholsii* reefs, which was included twice per block. In addition to outplanting specific sex ratios on each reef, individuals were selected so that the average male and female size on each reef was similar (±2 mm) across the whole block. The exception to this is that the average male size on the heavily female-biased treatments was typically higher than the other reefs. This was done to ensure that at least one male on each reef was larger than the

largest female, as is normally seen in nature, and reefs with many females included some large females.

The fish were left on the artificial reefs for a period of three and four weeks for *L. dalli* and *R. nicholsii*, respectively. Fish were re-collected at the end of the study period and returned to the lab at WMSC where they were again examined to determine their sex and size, allowing calculation of growth and sex change during the experiment.

Analyses

Comparing Natural to Experimental Populations

The size of *L. dalli* and *R. nicholsii* individuals collected throughout the sampling period were plotted on separate histograms to provide an estimate of the size structure in the natural populations surrounding the experimental site. The sex ratio for each collection dive was also calculated and plotted on histograms. To examine how collections may have impacted natural populations, a two-sample t-test was performed to determine if sex ratios in natural populations at the beginning of the collection period (July and June for *L. dalli* and *R. nicholsii*, respectively) was significantly different than the sex ratio at the end of the collection period (August and July for *L. dalli* and *R. nicholsii*, respectively). All analyses were completed using JMP Pro 13.

Quantifying Reproductive Output

The number of nests with eggs (i.e., broods), the total number of eggs per nest, the number of clutches per nest, and the number of unfertilized eggs were counted for each reef. A clutch was defined as a group of eggs from (presumably) a single female; a difference in developmental stage relative to the surrounding eggs was used to identify individual clutches.

The photographs of the egg broods for both species were examined with the ImageJ image processing program. *L. dalli* broods were manually counted by marking and enumerating individual eggs (Fig. 6a and 6b). Due to their larger size, *R. nicholsii* broods were subsampled to determine the number of eggs in each nest. First, the scale of the image was set in ImageJ before calculating the area of the brood (Fig. 7a). Next, a 1x1 cm grid was imposed on top of the picture and 5 randomly selected cells were counted to obtain the average egg density (Fig. 7b). *X* and *Y* coordinates were randomly generated to determine which cells to count. Only cells that were fully within the brood were counted; selected cells that were on the perimeter of the brood were discarded and a new cell was selected. The average egg density was determined from the 5 subsamples and brood size was calculated by multiplying this density by the area. The subsampling error for this method was an order of magnitude lower than the among-brood variability. If there were multiple stages of egg development within a nest, each stage was considered a single clutch (as long as all the eggs at that stage of development were adjacent).

Male Limitation and Reproductive Output Responses

For both species, models were produced to examine the relationship between the operational sex ratio (the percentage of the population on each reef that was male) and the (1) the proportion of fertilized eggs (i.e., fertilization rate) per reef, (2) the total number of eggs per reef, (3) the female per capita egg production per reef, (4) the male per capita egg production per reef, (5) the average number of eggs per nest, (6) the average number of eggs per clutch, (7) the number of nests per reef (i.e., the number of males that nested [assuming that each nest is only used by a single male]), (8) the percentage of males that nested per reef, (9) the number of clutches per reef, and (10) the average number of clutches per nest.

The reproductive output responses (metrics #2-6 above) were modeled using a Poisson generalized linear model with an overdispersion parameter. The models included sex ratio, a blocking factor, and the interaction between the two; the average female size (mm) and average male size (mm) on each reef were also added as covariates. Corrected Akaike's information criterion (AIC_c) was used to determine the best factors for each model with the caveat that sex ratio had to remain in the model (Burnham and Anderson 1998). Statistical significance was determined in cases where the difference in AIC_c values (Δ AIC_c) was greater than or equal to 2 (Burnham and Anderson 1998). Linear regressions were performed for the remaining reproduction responses to determine their relationship with sex ratio (metrics #7-10). All analyses were completed using JMP Pro 13.

Although egg production data was collected for both species throughout the monitoring period (3-4 weeks), only data from the first week were used. This was done because the populations deviated from the desired densities and sex ratios as time progressed; this was confirmed by survey data for *R. nicholsii* (during the monitoring period) and the number of individuals recollected for *L. dalli*. While it is not possible to know how representative the sex ratios were of the desired treatments after a week, surveys indicated that approximately 90% of the original tagged individuals were still on the reef. For *L. dalli*, both 1:39 male:female treatments were dropped from the analyses (but included in the figures) because it was difficult to disentangle the effects of sex ratio and fish density when examining differences in response variables among treatments (that had 20 individuals outplanted).

Growth and Sex Change Responses

Growth and sex change data were obtained from tagged individuals that were recollected at the end of the study period. Because few L. dalli individuals were recollected at the end of the monitoring period, the growth and sex change were only analyzed for *R. nicholsii*. Growth rate was determined by subtracting the initial length from the final length of each individual; this new length was then divided by the time spent by each individual on the artificial reef. Growth rate data were analyzed using a generalized linear model that included: block, type of sex change (female 'no sex change', female to transitional, female to male, or male 'no sex change'), and the interaction between the two; the initial size of the individual and the sex ratio were added as covariates. Factors and covariates that did not contribute to the model were dropped. Transitional individuals were fish that were undergoing sex change at the time of recollection but were still not considered functionally male (based on the genital papilla). Additionally, linear regressions were performed to determine the relationship between growth rate and the initial size of the individuals. Both of these analyses (ANCOVA and linear regression) were performed twice: once for the first round (the breeding season at the beginning of the field season [June-July]) and once for the second round (the non-breeding season at the end of the field season [July-August]). The data used in the reproductive output analyses were from the first round because there was no reproduction during the second round.

Frequency of sex change was calculated by examining the proportion of females on each reef that changed sex (either were fully transitioned at the time of recollection or in the process of transitioning). Since *R. nicholsii* are not bi-directional sex changers, individuals that were male at the start of the experiment were excluded from the analyses. A linear regression examined the relationship between sex change and sex ratio. Again, two separate models

(breeding and non-breeding season) were run for the sex change analyses. Finally, a two-sample *t*-test was performed to compare the difference in the average frequency of sex change (without regard to sex ratio) between the breeding and non-breeding season. All analyses were completed using JMP Pro 13.

RESULTS

Size Distribution and Sex Ratios in Natural Populations

In natural populations, both *L. dalli* and *R. nicholsii* followed a distribution typical of a diandric sequential hermaphrodite—a female-bias (with small males present) in the smaller size classes prior to a shift to male predominance in the larger size classes (Fig. 8). The shift from female- to male-predominance was more distinct in *R. nicholsii* (67 mm) than in *L. dalli* (35 mm) and occurs earlier in the size range.

The sex ratio of natural *L. dalli* populations averaged 0.26 (male:female) and showed little variation throughout the collecting period (Fig. 9a). There was no significant difference in sex ratio between the beginning (June-July) and end (August) of the field season (two-sample *t*test; t_8 =0.87, p=0.407). By contrast, the sex ratio of *R. nicholsii* over the collecting period averaged 0.47 (male:female) but was significantly different between the beginning (0.37; June) and the end (0.58; July) of the sampling period, with populations becoming significantly more male-biased by the end of the summer (two-sample *t*-test; t_8 =6.54, p<0.001) (Fig. 9b).

Male Limitation and Reproductive Output Responses

Lythrypnus dalli

There were no observed cases of unfertilized eggs during the *L. dalli* monitoring period; fertilization rate was 100% for all broods found (Fig. 10). The total number of eggs produced per reef did not differ significantly among sex ratios (Fig. 11a). Female per capita production, the average number of eggs produced per nest, and the average number of eggs produced per clutch exhibited a similar trend (Fig. 11b, 11d, 11e) and did not differ significantly as a function of sex ratio. Conversely, male per capita production increased exponentially as sex ratios became more female-biased with the most marked increase in egg production occurring around 0.2 male:female (Fig. 11c).

While most reefs typically had 1-2 nests with eggs. There were 2 reefs that never showed evidence of eggs in any of the artificial nests, and the most nests per reef at any given time was 3. There was no significant relationship between the number of nests on each reef and sex ratio (Fig. 12a; regression: $F_{1,16}=0.03$, p=0.874, r²<0.01) although the percentage of males that nested significantly increased as the treatments became more female-biased (Fig. 12b; regression: $F_{1,16}=9.43$, p=0.007, r²=0.37). There was no significant relationship between sex ratio and the number of clutches per reef (Fig. 13a; regression: $F_{1,16}=0.008$, p=0.931, r²<0.01) or the average number of clutches per nest (Fig. 13b; regression: $F_{1,16}=0.94$, p=0.35, r²=0.06).

Rhinogobiops nicholsii

The prevalence of unfertilized *R. nicholsii* eggs was low, with an average fertilization rate of 96% (Fig. 14). There were only three cases of broods with fertilization rates lower than 97% and two of these three reefs had the most female-biased sex ratio (Fig. 14). The total

number of eggs produced per reef did not change significantly with sex ratio but it tended to increase slightly as female-bias increased (Fig. 15a). Female per capita production and the average number of eggs produced per nest also exhibited a non-significant increase as sex ratios became more female-biased (Fig. 15b and 15d). Male per capita reproduction and the average number of eggs per clutch also increased as sex ratios became more female-biased, and did so significantly (Fig. 15c and 15e). The most marked increase in per capita male production occurred around 0.15 male:female.

Similar to *L. dalli*, most reefs typically had 1-2 nests with eggs although there were 4 reefs on which no eggs were found; the most nests found on a single reef on any day during the monitoring period was 3. There was no significant relationship between the number of nests on each reef and sex ratio (Figure 16a; regression: $F_{1,18}=0.01$, p=0.915, r²<0.01) although the percentage of males that nested significantly increased as populations became more female biased (Figure 16b; regression: $F_{1,18}=8.88$, p=0.008, r²=0.33). Sex ratio did not influence the number of clutches per reef (Figure 17a; regression: $F_{1,18}=0.012$, p=0.736, r²=0.01).

Growth and Sex Change Responses

During the breeding season, *R. nicholsii* individuals that transitioned from female to male exhibited significantly faster growth rates than fish that did not change sex or that had not completed the change from female to male (Figure 18a; ANCOVA: $F_{4,144}=28.98$, p<0.0001, $r^2=0.46$). After controlling for initial size, females that did not transition had the slowest growth rates when compared to the other three treatments (Fig. 18a). Males and transitional individuals (fish that had initiated sex change but did not complete reversal) were not significantly different

from each other and exhibited growth rates slower than sex changing individuals, but faster than non-transitional females (Fig. 18a). During the non-breeding season, block 2 had significantly higher growth rates than block 1 (Figure 18b; ANCOVA: $F_{8,188}=7.57$, p<0.0001, r²=0.24). Similar to the breeding season, females that underwent sex change exhibited the highest growth rates while females that did not change sex had the slowest growth rates. Initial size was a significant covariate for both the breeding (regression: $F_{1,147}=30.52$, p<0.0001, r²=0.17) and nonbreeding season (regression: $F_{1,195}=22.04$, p<0.0001, r²=0.10) with smaller individuals growing significantly faster in length than large fish (Fig. 19).

During the breeding season, the proportion of *R. nicholsii* females that changed sex on each reef increased as sex ratios became more female-biased (Figure 20a; regression: $F_{1,17}$ =4.78, p=0.043, r²=0.22). By contrast, the proportion of females that changed sex during the nonbreeding season did not differ significantly among sex ratios although it tended to increase as sex ratios became more balanced (Figure 20b; regression: $F_{1,18}$ =2.18, p=0.157, r²=0.11). When averaged across all treatments, the frequency of sex change was greater in the non-breeding (0.56) versus the breeding season (0.34) (two-sample t-test; t₃₈=4.31, p<0.001).

DISCUSSION

Comparing Natural to Experimental Populations

Both *L. dalli* and *R. nicholsii* appear to be diandric due to the presence of (primary) males in the smaller size classes (Fig. 8). For *L. dalli*, this finding is supported by the work of Drilling and Grober (2005) although their theory of a sneaker male alternative phenotype cannot be corroborated without observing mating behavior. Previous literature on the pattern of sexual ontogeny in *R. nicholsii* has been less clear. Kroon (1991) speculated that this species may be diandric due to the presence of males much smaller than the smallest mature females (50 mm total length)—something supported by the present study (Fig. 8b; Kroon and Liley 2000). Unfortunately, the testes of *R. nicholsii* males do not reveal structures indicating any former ovarian function, which makes it impossible to determine the presence of primary males through histological examination (Cole 1983). There was a marked exponential decrease in the abundance of large *L. dalli* individuals (>31 mm) (Fig. 8a). Large *L. dalli* individuals were considerably harder to catch during collections, , which makes it difficult to say whether the upper end of this size distribution is truly representative of natural populations. Furthermore, the *L. dalli* size distribution did not exhibit a distinct shift in gender predominance (from female to male) that was evident in the *R. nicholsii* size range (67mm) (Fig. 8b). This again may be attributed to the difficulty of collecting large (male) *L. dalli* individuals.

While *L. dalli* sex ratios remained consistent throughout the summer, *R. nicholsii* populations became significantly more male-biased between the beginning and end of the collection period. Since the breeding season of *R. nicholsii* typically ends in mid-July (although in some locations it extends as late as October), it is possible that sex change in this species occurs most frequently immediately after the end of the breeding season, something observed in temperate protogynous wrasses through year-round inspection of gonadal tissue (Warner 1975; Dipper et al. 1977; Dipper and Pullin 1979; Jones 1980; Cole 1983). The presence of many transitional individuals throughout the breeding season, however, indicates that sex change is not exclusive to the non-breeding season. Alternatively, Breitburg (1987) observed that areas with many suitable nest sites typically contained a higher proportion of males. Therefore, it is possible that collections earlier in the season increased nest availability, which influenced the frequency

of sex change in these local populations. Whether the increase in male abundance at the end of the collecting period is due to a temporal cue or an increase in available nests remains unclear.

Male Limitation and Reproductive Output

Sperm limitation was not present in either species (Fig. 10 and 14). While there were two *R. nicholsii* reefs at the most female-biased sex ratio (1:19 male:female) that had lower fertilization rates than the other treatments, the fertilization rates remained high (>76%) and the fit of statistical models was not impacted if unfertilized eggs were included when calculating reproductive output. Many of the previous studies documenting sperm limitation have focused on taxa with reproductive behavior different from the species studied here. For example, in the Caribbean, black sea urchin (*Diadema antillarum*) sex ratios were skewed heavily in favor of females after a mass mortality event (Lessios 1988). While females had larger body sizes and higher per capita egg production due to decreased competition, reproductive output did not increase due to reduced fertilization rates (Levitan 1992). In marine systems, the prevalence of sperm limitation in sessile and sedentary invertebrates highlights the importance of distance between spawning partners—something that is not an issue with mobile species that seek out mates.

Moreover, previous modeling studies that have predicted sperm limitation in populations of protogynous hermaphrodites have typically focused on species that aggregate to spawn. For these species, sperm competition between male conspecifics may encourage individuals to release high concentrations of sperm early in the spawning process, leading to a greater incidence of sperm depletion. Conversely, coral reef pair spawning species exhibit a strategy of "sperm economy" whereby they regulate the quantity of sperm released (Shapiro et al. 1994).
The quantity of sperm released by these males is dependent upon: (1) the size of the female mate, (2) the total number of spawning partners, (3) and whether the dominant male experiences sperm competition from "streaker" males (Shapiro et al. 1994; Marcanato et al. 1995; Warner at al. 1995; Marcanato and Shapiro 1996). Moreover, by economizing their sperm release, these males are able to maximize the number of matings that they are able to successfully participate in throughout the spawning period (Shapiro et al. 1994). While it is unclear if *L. dalli* and *R. nicholsii* employ sperm economy, their pair spawning mating strategy may make them less susceptible to sperm depletion than the aggregate spawning behavior characteristic of species like gag grouper (*Mycteroperca microlepis*) and coral trout (*Plectropomus leopardus*) (Bannerot et al. 1987; Armsworth 2001).

For both species, total egg production per reef, female per capita egg production, average egg production per nest, and the number of nests per reef remained consistent regardless of the operational sex ratio (Figs. 11 and 15). Kappus (2012) performed a similar manipulative study with *L. dalli* and also found no effect of sex ratio on total egg production, female per capita egg production, and the number of nests per reef (Kappus and Fong 2014). These results seem to indicate that these species are fairly resistant to sex ratio skew and male limitation. Since the average number of eggs per nest was not affected by sex ratios, the number of nests per reef was the main driver of variation in egg production among treatments (not including sex ratio for the per capita production metrics) (Figs. 11d and 15d). For both species, the number of nests that received eggs remained relatively constant among sex-ratio treatments; most reefs typically only had one or two dominant males that nested (i.e., nests with eggs) (Figs. 12a and 16a; Kappus 2012; Kappus and Fong 2014; Pang, pers. obs.). This trend and the trend observed with total egg

production might be attributed to: (1) intrasexual competition (both male and female), (2) mate preference/selection, or (3) an indifference or inability of males to occupy multiple nests.

The limited number of guarded nests for females to spawn in suggests that one or two dominant males were able to suppress other (subordinate) males from establishing breeding territories on most reefs. In territorial species, relative size can often determine the outcome of agonistic interactions between conspecific males for resources (e.g., nests), which consequently determines their reproductive success (Davis and Houston 1984; Stanley and Wootton 1986; Lindström 1988; Kvarnemo et al. 1995; van Rooij et al. 1996; Mumby and Wabnitz 2002). In both L. dalli and R. nicholsii, these aggressive interactions have been observed with males occupying nests being significantly larger and more reproductively successful than those that do not (Cole 1982; Breitburg 1987; St. Mary 1994). While one would expect intense intrasexual competition between males at balanced sex ratios, it is surprising that the number of nests per reef did not increase when female bias became extreme. Territory theory predicts that territory size should increase with a decreasing density of competitors (Warner and Hoffman 1980; Norman and Jones 1984), thus one might predict that dominant males could defend multiple nests at low male: female sex ratios, but there was no evidence of that. Surveys indicated that males did not occupy multiple nests on the same reef over the four-week monitoring period (Pang, pers. obs.). Males of L. dalli and R. nicholsii may only be able to defend a single nest site at a time, regardless of the density of other males nearby, possibly due to the need to defend eggs against egg predators.

In addition, it is possible that intrasexual competition between females further limited the number of eggs deposited and that reproductive output was controlled by a few, large dominant females. For both species, the number of clutches per reef remained fairly consistent (~2 clutches

per/reef) regardless of female density. Agonistic female-female interactions in mammals have been shown to reduce the number of offspring in subordinate individuals (Dublin 1983; Wasser 1983; Smuts 1987); similarly, in a haremic angelfish, alpha females interfere with the mating of other females—resulting in reduced spawning time for subordinates (Lutnesky and Kosaki 1995). In this study, if there were female *L. dalli* and *R. nicholsii* that were unable to spawn due to intrasexual competition, they may have instead reabsorbed the eggs and allocated that energy to future egg production, growth, or sex change (Rideout et al. 2005; Rideout and Tomkiewicz 2011).

Although it is likely that dominant males suppressed reproduction by other males on reefs with balanced sex ratios, given that typically only one or two nests with eggs were found on reefs, it is also possible that mate preference by females prevented these subordinate males from receiving eggs (Sargent 1988; Forsgren 1992; Forsgren et al. 1996). Males were observed in nests without eggs, suggesting they had access to nest sites, but perhaps females instead chose dominant males. As outlined by the polygyny threshold model, a female that spawns with a male that has already mated gains a number of benefits including (1) a reduced risk of predation or filial cannibalism and (2) an increased parental investment (in broods that are larger and more valuable) (Rohwer 1978; Ridley and Rechten 1981; Coleman et al. 1985; Sargent 1988; Dugatkin 1992). For both study species, previous literature suggests that females typically prefer to spawn with the largest males available, regardless of male density (Breitburg 1987; St. Mary 1994). With that said, there was no evidence of males establishing multiple nests which suggests that on reefs with two nests, another "subordinate" male was still able to nest and court females successfully. This suggests that a single male was unable to monopolize the entire reef due to intrasexual competition and mate preference.

In both *L. dalli* and *R. nicholsii*, male per capita production increased significantly as sex ratios became skewed in favor of females. Previous literature has shown that as populations became more female-biased, intrasexual competition is relaxed, male reproductive variance was reduced, and individual males became more reproductively successful (despite total production remaining consistent across sex ratios) (Trivers 1972; Petrie 1983; Kodric-Brown 1988; Kvarnemo et al. 1995). Conversely, when operational sex ratios were more balanced (i.e., 30-40% male), males and females exhibited similar levels of per capita production. Itzkowitz (1990) and Kappus (2012) reported similar increases in male per capita production—in beaugregory damselfish and *L. dalli*, respectively—as sex ratios became more female-biased (Kappus and Fong 2014). Moreover, Kappus (2012) reported comparable levels of per capita production between males and females at similar sex ratios (30-40% male) to what was observed in this study. These results suggest that for both *L. dalli* and *R. nicholsii*, some females would likely gain a reproductive advantage if they underwent sex reversal when gender ratios are heavily female-biased.

It is possible that the design of the artificial nests and reefs may have also contributed to some of the unexpected results, relative to previous modeling work, seen in this study. Fertilization rates may have remained unnaturally high for both species if artificial nest space limited the number of eggs a male would typically fertilize. If this were true though, most (if not all) nests should have been completely filled with eggs, which was not the case. Alternatively, if the reefs had been larger, causing population densities to be lower, skewed sex ratios may have caused a significant decline in total production (and consequently, male and female per capita production) if females were unable to find mates. Moreover, larger reefs may have allowed more males to establish breeding territories when sex ratios were less female-biased—raising the total number of eggs per reef. The population densities used in these experiments were representative of natural populations, though they may not reflect what happens in low density populations of the study species. In low-density populations, it is likely that males would become limiting in the manner predicted by previous work. Without further research, it is difficult to say how the results from this study might be extrapolated to the landscape-scale.

Growth and Sex Change

In *R. nicholsii*, growth rate was highest in individuals that completed sex reversal from female to male during the breeding and non-breeding season (Fig. 18). While females that had begun to transition at the time of recollection (but had not completed sex change) exhibited growth rates higher than females that did not change sex, they still had significantly lower growth rates than newly transitioned males. It appears that in *R. nicholsii*, transitional growth acceleration occurs towards the end of (or immediately following) sex change. Walker and McCormick (2004) found that cylindrical sandperch retained accelerated growth for up to 30 days after sex change at which time growth rate slowed. Without more closely monitoring the individuals that were outplanted in this study though, it is difficult to determine when exactly this burst in growth occurs. Accelerated growth due to sex change is well documented in marine species, and it allows the transitioned individual to establish dominance over females and to defend the harem from bachelor or roving males (Robertson 1972; Aldenhoven 1986; Ross 1987; Warner 1991; Garratt et al. 1993; Sakai 1997; Sakai and Kohda 1997; Walker and McCormick 2004; Lorenzi et al. 2006; Walker et al. 2007; Wong et al. 2007; Munday et al. 2009).

During the breeding season, the frequency of sex change in *R. nicholsii* females increased as sex ratios became more female-biased (Fig. 20a). This finding supports the previous literature

that sex reversal in this species is at least partly governed by exogenous cues (i.e., social hierarchy) (Kroon 1991; Kroon and Liley 2000). While the frequency of sex change during the non-breeding season did not exhibit the same trend with regard to sex ratio, it did have a higher rate of sex change across all treatments when compared to the breeding season (Fig. 20b). The increased proportion of females changing sex (regardless of sex ratio) may have been due to the number of *R. nicholsii* recruits found on the artificial reefs late in the field season. This influx of future females could indicate to existing mature females that sex change would increase their reproductive success in the next breeding season. Alternatively, the results on the artificial reefs during the non-breeding season mirror the trend found during the collections at natural reefs when sex ratios were significantly less female-biased in July (post-breeding season) than in June (breeding season). It is possible that while exogenous factors are the primary cue for sex change during the breeding season, there is an important temporal cue following the end of the breeding season as well. Without further sampling, it is unclear whether this increased frequency of sex change is maintained throughout the non-breeding season.

Fishery Management Implications

The findings from this study have important implications for fisheries management and highlight the importance of considering a species' mating system when managing a population. The evidence presented here shows that sex ratio does not influence the reproductive output (excluding per capita production of males) of *L. dalli* and *R. nicholsii*; for both species, total egg production and fertilization rates remained consistent regardless of the magnitude of female bias in sex ratio. It is possible that pair spawning species may be less susceptible to male limitation and sex ratio skew than the previous modeling work with sex-changing species implies.

It is important to note that the previous studies predicting sperm limitation have largely focused on species that aggregate to spawn (i.e., coral trout [*Plectropomus leopardus*], gag grouper [*Mycteroperca microlepis*], and graysby [*Epinephelus cruentatus*]) (Armsworth 2001; Huntsman and Schaff 1994; Heppell et al. 2006). It is possible that this mating strategy (and the sperm competition associated with it), encourages behavior that makes these species more susceptible to sperm depletion if they prioritize early mates. Conversely, pair spawning males that exhibit sperm economy may be considerably less susceptible to sperm limitation (Shapiro et al. 1994). By regulating the amount of sperm they release, males are able to maintain appropriate levels of fertilization while maximizing the number of successful spawns throughout the spawning period.

While female-biased populations of pair spawners may be less susceptible to sperm limitation, reduced male abundance (due to fishing pressure or natural mortality) can impact these populations in other ways. If mortality is constant (so that only a few males are ever present), females that respond to exogenous cues will undergo sex change at smaller sizes and younger ages leading to reduced stock fecundity (Buxton 1990; Cowen 1990; Warner and Swearer 1991; Platten et al. 2002; Hawkins and Roberts 2003; Hamilton et al. 2007). Moreover, these heavily skewed populations will be considerably more susceptible to population crashes if exploitation is intense enough that the frequency of sex change is unable to keep pace with fishing mortality and males are completely removed (Vincent and Sadovy 1998; Alonzo et al. 2008). Recruitment in these populations may become entirely dependent on external supply, further complicating management. With more balanced sex ratios, the role of large, dominant males would likely be assumed by subordinate males preventing any reduction in reproductive output. The findings from this study corroborate the growing body of evidence that intraspecific competition, mate choice, and other components of mating systems can affect the operational sex ratio and reproductive output of a population and should be incorporated into population assessments if stocks (both gonochoristic and hermaphroditic) are to be managed appropriately (Pomiankowski 1988; Dugatkin 1992; Forsgren et al. 1996; Hutchings 1999; Côté 2003; Rowe and Hutchings 2003; Alonzo and Mangel 2004). For example, gag (*Mycteroperca microlepis*) and scamp grouper (*Mycteroperca phenax*), two protogynous species that aggregate to spawn, have experienced a significant decline in the proportion of males in exploited populations (Coleman et al. 1996). By contrast, red grouper (*Epinephelus morio*), which does not aggregate to spawn, has shown little change in sex ratio over the same time period and similar fishing pressure (Coleman et al. 1996; Brulé et al. 1999). Mating behaviors and systems need to be considered when assessing the resiliency of exploited marine fish populations.

CONCLUSIONS

In summary, male and sperm limitation does not appear to be a problem for *L. dalli* or *R. nicholsii* at heavily female-biased sex ratios. Total production remained consistent across the wide range of sex ratios tested here. Social and mating systems, such as the ability of individual males and females to exert dominance and suppress other conspecifics, seems to play a larger role in who is reproductively successful. At balanced sex ratios, where male abundance is high, intrasexual competition between males appears to play an important role in the establishment of viable nesting sites and mate monopolization. At sex ratios that are skewed heavily in favor of females, female-female competition for nest space may limit total population production. Why *L.*

dalli and *R. nicholsii* males did not appear to establish multiple nesting sites at heavily skewed sex ratios remains unclear. While previous models had predicted that males (and sperm) could be limiting to reproductive output, many of these models focused on broadcast spawners that aggregate to spawn in groups, and may not be applicable to nest-brooding or pair spawning species (Huntsman and Schaaf 1994; Heppell et al. 2006; Alonzo et al. 2008; Armsworth 2011). Ultimately, a stock's susceptibility to exploitation appears to be dependent on several factors that must be examined in the context of population dynamics, mating strategies, and reproductive behavior (Rowe and Hutchings 2003; Alonzo and Mangel 2004).

REFERENCES

- Adams S. and A. J. Williams. 2001. A preliminary test of the transitional growth spurt hypothesis using the protogynous coral trout *Plectropomus maculatus*. *Journal of Fish Biology* 59(1): 183-185.
- Aldenhoven, J.M. 1986. Different reproductive strategies in a sex- changing coral reef fish *Centropyge bicolor* (Pomacanthidae). *Aust. J. Mar. Freshwater Res.* 37: 353–360
- Alonzo, S. H., M. Key, T. Ish, and A. D. MacCall. 2004. Status of the California Sheephead (Semicossyphus pulcher) Stock. California Fish and Game.
- Alonzo, S. H., T. Ish, M. Key, A. D. MacCall, and M. Mangel. 2008. The importance of incorporating protogynous sex change into stock assessments. *Bulletin of Marine Science* 83(1): 163-179.
- Alonzo, S. H. and M. Mangel. 2004. The effects of size-selective fisheries on the stock dynamics of and sperm limitation in sex-changing fish. *Fishery Bulletin* 102: 1-13.
- Alonzo, S. H. and M. Mangel. 2005. Sex-change rules, stock dynamics, and the performance of spawning-per-recruit measures in protogynous stocks. *Fishery Bulletin* 103: 229-245.
- Andrews, A.H., G. M. Caillet, K. H. Coale, K. M. Munk, M. M. Mahoney and V. M. O'Connell.
 2002. Radiometric age validation of the yelloweye rockfish (*Sebastes ruberrimus*) from southeastern Alaska. *Marine and Freshwater Research* 53: 139–146.
- Archambeault, S., E. Ng, L. Rapp, D. Cerino, B. Bourque, T. Solomon-Lane, M. S. Grober, A. Rhyne, and K. Crow. 2015. Reproduction, larviculture and early development of the Bluebanded goby, *Lythrypnus dalli*, an emerging model organism for studies in evolutionary developmental biology and sexual plasticity. *Aquaculture Research*: 1-18.

- Armsworth, P.R. 2001. Effects of fishing on a protogynous hermaphrodite. *Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences* 58: 568-578.
- Bannerot, S., W. Fox and J.E. Powers. 1987. Reproductive strategies and the management of snappers and groupers in the Gulf of Mexico and Caribbean. In *Tropical Snappers and Groups: Biology and Fisheries Management* (Polovina, J. J. & Ralston, S., eds), pp. 561–603. Boulder, Colorado: Westview Press.
- Beets, J., and A. Friedlander. 1992. Stock analysis and management strategies for red hind, *Epinephelus guttatus*, in the US Virgin Islands. *Proceedings of the Gulf and Caribbean Fisheries Institute* 42:66–79.
- Behrents, K. C. 1983. The comparative ecology and interactions between two sympatric gobies (*Lythrypnus dalli* and *Lythrypnus zebra*). Ph.D. Dissertation, University of Southern California. 334 pp.
- Berkeley, S. A., M. A. Hixon, R. J. Larson and M. S. Love. 2004. Fisheries sustainability via protection of age structure and spatial distribution of fish populations. *Fisheries* 29:23–32.
- Bjelvenmark, J. and E. Forsgren. 2003. Effects of Mate Attraction and Male-Male Competition on Parental Care in a Goby. *Behaviour* 140: 55-69.
- Breitburg, D. S. 1987. Interspecific competition and the abundance of nest sites: factors affecting sexual selection. *Ecology* 68(6): 1844-1855.
- Brooks, E. N., K. W. Shertzer, T. Gedamke, and D. S. Vaughan. 2008. Stock assessment of protogynous fish: evaluating measures of spawning biomass used to estimate biological reference points. *Fishery Bulletin* 106(1): 12-23.

- Brown, M. E. 1957. Experimental studies on growth. In: *The Physiology of Fishes*, Vol. 1, M.Brown, ed. Academic press, New York, pp. 361-400.
- Brulé, T., C. Deniel, T. Colas-Marrufo, and M. Sanchez-Crespo. 1999. Red Grouper Reproduction in the Southern Gulf of Mexico. *Transactions of the American Fisheries Society* 128(3): 385-402.
- Bullough, W. S. 1947. Hermaphroditism in the Lower Vertebrates. Nature. 160: 9-11.
- Burnham, K. P. and D. R. Anderson. 1998. Model selection and inference: a practical information theoretic approach, pg. 353. New York, NY: Springer.
- Buxton, C. D. 1990. The reproductive biology of *Chrysoblephus laticeps* and *C. cristiceps* (Teleostei: Sparidae). *J. Zool.* 220:497-511.
- Buxton, C. D. 1992. The application of yield-per-recruit models to two South African sparid reef species, with special consideration to sex change. *Fisheries Research* 15: 1-16.
- Buxton, C. D. 1993. Life-history changes in exploited reef fishes on the east coast of South Africa. *Environmental Biology of Fishes* 36: 47-63.
- Claro, R., K. C. Lindeman and L. R. Parenti. 2001. Ecology of the Marine Fishes of Cuba. Smithsonian Institute Press, Washington.
- Cole, K. S. 1982. Male reproductive behavior and spawning success in a temperate zone goby, *Coryphopterus nicholsii*. Canadian Journal of Zoology 60: 2309-2316.
- Cole, K. S. 1983. Protogynous hermaphroditism in a temperate zone territorial marine goby, *Coryphopterus nicholsii. Copeia* 1983: 809-812.
- Cole, K.S. and D. Y. Shapiro. 1992. Gonadal structure and population characteristics of the protogynous goby *Coryphopterus glaucofraenum*. *Marine Biology* 113: 1–9.

- Coleman, R. M., M. R. Gross, and R. C. Sargent. 1985. Parental Investment Decision Rules: A Test in Bluegill Sunfish. *Behavioral Ecology and Sociobiology* 18(1): 59-66.
- Coleman, F.C., C. C. Koenig and L. A. Collins. 1996. Reproductive styles of shallow-water groupers (Pisces: Serranidae) in the eastern Gulf of Mexico and the consequences of fishing spawning aggregations. *Environmental Biology of Fishes* 47: 129–141.
- Coleman, F. C., C. C. Koenig, G. R. Huntsman, J. A. Musick, A. M. Eklund, J. C. McGovern, R.W. Chapman, G. R. Sedberry and C. B. Grimes. 2000. Long-lived Reef Fishes: theGrouper-Snapper Complex. *Fisheries* 25: 14–21.
- Colin, P. L. 1992. Reproduction of the Nassau grouper, *Epinephelus striatus* (Pisces:Serranidae) and its relationship to environmental conditions. *Environmental Biology of Fishes* 34(4): 357-377.
- Conover, D.O. and S. B. Munch. 2002. Sustaining fisheries yields over evolutionary time scales. *Science* 297: 94–96.
- Côté, I. M. 2003. Knowledge of reproductive behavior contributes to conservation programs. In Animal Behavior and Wildlife Conservation (Festa-Bianchet, M. and Apollonio, M., eds), pp. 77-92, Island Press.
- Cowen, R.K. 1990. Sex change and life history patterns of the labrid, *Semicossyphus pulcher*, across an environmental gradient. *Copeia*, 3: 787–795.
- Davis, N. B. & A. I. Houston. 1984. Territory economics. Pp. 148-169. In: J. R. Krebs & N. B. Davies (ed.) Behavioural Ecology, and Evolutionary Approach, Blackwell Scientific, Oxford.
- Dipper, F. A., C. R. Bridges, and A. Menz. 1977. Age, growth and feeding in the ballan wrasse *Labrus bergylta* (Acianus 1767). *Journal of Fish Biology* 11: 105-120.

- Dipper, F. A. and Pullin, R. S. V. 1979. Gonochorism and sex-inversion in British Labridae (Pisces). *Journal of Zoology* 187: 97-112.
- Dragesund, O., Hamre, J., Ulltang, O., Rapp, P.V., 1980. Journal du Conseil International pour l'Exploration de la Mer 177: 43–71.
- Drilling, C. C. and M. S. Grober. 2005. An initial description of alternative male reproductive phenotypes in the bluebanded goby, *Lythrypnus dalli* (Teleostei, Gobiidae). *Environmental Biology of Fishes* 72: 361-372.
- Dublin, H. T. 1983. Cooperation and reproductive competition among female African elephants. Pages 291-313 in S. K. Wasser, ed. Social behavior of female vertebrates. Academic press. New York.
- Dugatkin, L. A. 1992. Sexual Selection and Imitation: Females Copy the Mate Choice of Others. *The American Naturalist* 139(6): 1384-1389.
- Ferreira, B. P. and G. R. Russ. 1994. Age validation and estimation of growth rate of the coral trout, *Plectropomous leopardus*, from Lizard Island, Northern Great Barrier Reef. *Fish. Bull. U.S.* 92: 46-57.
- Francis, R. C. and G. W. Barlow. 1993. Social control of primary sex differentiation in the Midas cichlid. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* 90(22): 10673-10675.
- Forsgren, E., A. Karlsson, and C. Kvarnemo. 1996. Female Sand Gobies Gain Direct Benefits by Choosing Males with Eggs in Their Nests. *Behavioral Ecology and Sociobiology* 39(2): 91-96.

- Garratt, P.A., 1985. The offshore line fishery of Natal: II. Reproductive biology of the sparids *Chrysoblephus puniceus* and *Cheimerius nufar*. Invest. Rep. Oceanogr. Res. Inst., Durban, 63: 1-21.
- Garratt, P. A., A. Govender, an A. E. Punt. 1993. Growth acceleration at sex change in the protogynous hermaphrodite *Chrysoblephus puniceus* (Pisces: Sparidae). *South African Journal of Marine Science* 13: 187-193.
- Ghiselin, M. T. 1969. The evolution of hermaphroditism in animals. *The Quarterly Review of Biology* 44: 189-208.
- Ghiselin, M. T. 1974. The Economy of Nature and the Evolution of Sex. *University of California Press.*
- Gray, G. W. and G. C. Powell. 1964. Sex ratios and distribution of spawning king crabs in Alitak Bay, Kodiak Is., Alaska (Decapoda, Anomura, Lithodidae). *Crustaceana* 10: 303–309.
- Gust, N. 2004. Variation in the population biology of protogynous coral reef fishes over tens of kilometres. *Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences* 61(2): 205-218.
- Gust, N., J. H. Choat and M.I. Mc Cormick. 2001. Spatial variability in reef fish distribution, abundance, size and biomass: a multi-scale analysis. *Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser.* 214: 237–251.
- Gust, N., J. H. Choat and J. Ackerman. 2002. Demographic plasticity in tropical reef fishes. *Mar. Biol.* 140: 1039–1051.
- Hare, J. A. and R. K. Cowen. 1997. Size, growth, development, and survival of the planktonic larvae of *Pomatomus saltatrix* (Pisces: Pomatomidae). *Ecology* 78(8): 2415-2431.
- Hamilton, S. L., J. E. Caselle, J. D. Standish, D. M. Schroeder, M. S. Love, J. A. Rosales-Casian, and O. Sosa-Nishizaki. 2007. Size-selective harvesting alters life histories of a temperate sex-changing fish. *Ecological Applications* 17(8): 2268-2280.

- Hawkins, J. P. and C. M. Roberts. 2003. Effects of fishing on sex-changing Caribbean parrotfishes. *Biological Conservation* 115: 213-226.
- Heppell, S. S., S. A. Heppell, F. C. Coleman and C. C. Koenig. 2006. Models to compare management options for a protogynous fish. *Ecological Applications* 16(1): 238-249.
- Hobson, E. S. and J. R. Chess. 1976. Trophic interactions among fishes and zooplankters near shore at Santa Catalina Island, California. *Fishery Bulletin* 74: 567-598.
- Hood, P. B. and R. A. Schlieder. 1992. Age, growth, and reproduction of gag *Mycteroperca microlepis* (Pisces: Serranidae), in the eastern Gulf of Mexico. *Bulletin of Marine Science* 51: 337-352.
- Hines, A. H., P. R. Jivoff, P. J. Bushmann, J. Montfrans, S. A. Reed, D. L. Wolcott, and T. G.
 Wolcott. 2003. Evidence for sperm limitation in the blue crab, *Callinectes sapidus*. *Bulletin of Marine Science* 72: 287–310.
- Huntsman, G. R. and W. E. Schaaf. 1994. Simulation of the impact of fishing on reproduction of a protogynous grouper, the graysby. North American Journal of Fisheries Management 14: 41-52.
- Hutchings, J. A. 1999. Spawning behavior of Atlantic cod, *Gadus morhua*: evidence of mate competition and mate choice in a broadcast spawner. *Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences* 56(1): 97-104.
- Itzkowitz, M. 1990. Sex-Ratio Biasing and Male Reproductive Variation in a Coral-Reef Fish. *The American Naturalist* 136(4): 557-559.
- Janssen J. 1980. Alewives (Alosa pseudoharengus) and ciscoes (Coregonus artedii) as selective and non-selective planktivores. In: Kerfoot WC, ed. Evolution and ecology of zooplankton communities, pp. 580-586. Hanover, NH: University Press of New England.

- Jones, G. P. 1980. Growth and reproduction in the protogynous hermaphrodite *Pseudolabrus celidotus* (Pisces: Labridae) in New Zealand. *Copeia* 1980: 660-675.
- Kappus, S. M. 2012. The influence of population density and sex ratio on reproduction and sex change of a temperate reef fish, *Lythrypnus dalli*. Ph.D. Dissertation, University of California: Los Angeles. 96 pp.
- Kappus, S. and P. Fong. 2014. Sex ratio does not influence sex change despite its effect on reproductive success. *Behavioral Ecology* 25(4): 827-833.
- Kelly, C. J., P. L. Connolly and J. J. Bracken. 1999. Age estimation, growth, maturity, and distribution of the bluemouth rockfish *Helicolenus dactylopterus* (Delaroche 1809) from the Rockall Trough. *ICES Journal of Marine Science* 56: 61–74.
- Koebele, B. P. 1985. Growth and the size hierarchy effect: an experimental assessment of three proposed mechanisms: activity differences, disproportional food acquisition, physiological stress. *Environmental Biology of Fishes* 12(3): 181-188.
- Kodric-Brown, A. 1988. Effects of sex-ratio manipulation on territoriality and spawning success of male pupfish, *Cyprinodon pecosensis*. *Animal Behaviour* 36(4): 1136-1144.
- Kokia, T. and A. Nakazono. 1998. Plasticity in the mating system of the longnose filefish,
 Oxymonacanthus longirostris, in relation to mate availability. *Journal of Ethology* 16: 81-89.
- Kroon, F. J. 1997. Protogynous hermaphroditism in a temperate reef fish, the blackeye goby, *Coryphopterus nicholsii* (Pisces: Gobiidae). Ph.D. Dissertation, University of British Columbia, Vancouver. 132 pp.

- Kroon, F. J. and N. R. Liley. 2000. The role of steroid hormones in protogynous sex change in the blackeye goby, *Coryphopterus nicholsii* (Teleostei: Gobiidae). *General and Comparative Endocrinology* 118: 273-283.
- Kroon, F. J., M. de Graaf, N. R. Liley. 2000. Social organization and competition for refuges and nest sites in *Coryphopterus nicholsii* (Gobiidae), a temperate protogynous reef fish. *Environmental Biology of Fishes* 57: 401-411.
- Kvarnemo, C., E. Forsgren, and C. Magnhagen. 1995. Effects of sex ratio on intra- and intersexual behavior in sand gobies. *Animal Behavior* 50: 1455-1461.
- Lasker, H. R., D. A. Brazeau, J. Calderon, M. A. Coffroth, R. Coma, and K. Kim. 1996. *In Situ* Rates of Fertilization Among Broadcast Spawning Gorgonian Corals. *Biological Bulletin* 190(1): 45-55.
- Leggett, W. C. and E. DeBlois. 1994. Recruitment in marine fishes: is it regulated by starvation and predation in the egg and larval stage. *Netherlands Journal of Sea Research* 32: 119-134.
- Lessios, H. A. 1988. Mass mortality of *Diadema antillarum* in the Caribbean—what have we learned. *Annual Review of Ecology and Systematics* 19: 371–393.
- Levitan, D. R. 1992. Community structure in times past–influence of human fishing pressure on algal urchin interactions. *Ecology* 73: 1597-1605.
- Levitan, D. R. and C. Peterson. 1995. Sperm limitation in the sea. *Trends in Ecology and Evolution* 10(6): 228-231.
- Lindstrom, K. 1988. Male-male competition for nest sites in the sand goby, *Pomatoschistus minutus*. *Oikos* 53(1): 67-73.

- Lorenzi, V., R. L. Earley, and M. S. Grober. 2006. Preventing behavioural interactions with a male facilities sex change in female bluebanded gobies, *Lythypnus dalli. Behavioral Ecology and Sociobiology* 59: 715-722.
- Lovrich, G. A., B. Sainte-Marie and B. D. Smith. 1995. Depth distribution and seasonal movement of *Chionoecetes opilio* (Brachyura: Majidae) in Baie Sainte-Marguerite, Gulf of Saint Lawrence. *Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences* 73: 1712–1226.
- Lutnesky, M. M. F. and R. K. Kosaki. 1995. Female-female competition in a coral reef fish and a test of the temporal threshold model of polygynous mating. *The American Naturalist* 146(6): 832-847.
- MacLennan, D. N. 1992. Fishing gear selectivity: an overview. Fisheries Research 13: 201-204.
- Magnuson, J. J. 1962. An analysis of aggressive behavior, growth, and competition for food and space in medaka (Oryzias latipes [Pisces, Cyprinodontidae]). Canadian Journal of Zoology 40: 313-363.
- Malone J. C., G. E. Forrester, M.A. Steele. 1999. Effects of subcutaneous microtags on the growth, survival, and vulnerability to predation of small reef fishes. *Journal of Experimental Marine Biology and Ecology* 237(2): 243-253.
- Marconato, A. and D. Y. Shapiro. 1996. Sperm allocation, sperm production and fertilization rates in the bucktooth parrotfish. *Animal Behaviour* 52(5): 971-980.
- Marconato, A., V. Tessari and G. Marin. 1995. The mating system of *Xyrichthys novacula*: Sperm economy and fertilization success. *Journal of Fish Biology* 47: 292–301.
- McErlean, A. J. and C. L. Smith. 1964. The age of sexual succession in the protogynous hermaphrodite *Mycteroperca microlepis*. *Transactions of the American Fisheries Society* 93: 310-302.

- McGovern, J. C., D. M. Wyanski, O. Pashuk, C. S. Manooch, G. R. Sedberry. 1998. Changes in the sex ratio and size at maturity of gag *Mycteroperca microlepis*, from the Atlantic coast of the southeastern United States during 1976–1995. *Fishery Bulletin* 96: 797–807.
- Medawar, P. B. 1945. Size, shape, and age. In: *Essays on Growth and Form*. L. Clark and P. Medawar, eds. Oxford University Press, London, pp. 157-187.
- Milliken, M. R. and A. B. Williams. 1984. Synopsis of biological data on the blue crab,
 Callinectes sapidus Rathbun. *NOAA Technical Report NMFS 1, FAO Fisheries Synopsis* 183: 39.
- Møller, A. P. and S. Legendre. 2001. Allee effect, sexual selection and demographic stochasticity. *Oikos* 92: 27-34.
- Morson, J. M., E. A. Bochenek, E. N. Powell, and J. E. Gius. 2012. Sex at length of Summer Flounder landed in the New Jersey recreational party boat fishery. *North American Journal of Fisheries Management* 32: 1201–1210.
- Mumby, P. J. and C. C. C. Wabnitz. 2002. Spatial patterns of aggression, territory size, and harem size in five sympatric Caribbean parrotfish species. *Environmental Biology of Fishes* 63: 265-279.
- Munday, P. L., A. L. Hodges, J. H. Choat, and N. Gust. 2004. Sex-specific growth effects in protogynous hermaphrodites. *Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences* 61: 323–327.
- Munday, P. L., C. A. Ryen, M. I. McCormick, and S. P. W. Walker. 2009. Growth acceleration, behaviour and otolith check marks associated with sex change in the wrasse *Halichoeres miniatus*. *Coral Reefs* 28: 623–634.

- Newman R. M. and T. F. Waters. 1984. Size-selective predation on *Gammarus pseudolimnaeus* by trout and sculpins. *Ecology* 65: 1535-1545.
- Noakes, D. L. 1978. *Social behavior as it influences fish production*. In: Ecology of Freshwater Fish production. S. Gerking, ed. Blackwell Scientific Publishing, London pp. 360-382.
- Norman, M. D. and G. P. Jones. 1984. Determinants of territory size in the pomacentrid reef fish, *Parma victoriae. Oecologia* 61: 60-69.
- Peterson C. W., R. R. Warner, D. Y. Shapiro, and A. Marconato. 2001. Components of fertilization success in the bluehead wrasse, *Thalassoma bifasciatum*. *Behavioral Ecology* 12(2): 237-245.
- Petrie, M. 1983. Mate choice in role-reversed species. Pages 167-179 *in*. P. Bateson, ed. Mate choice. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge.
- Platten, J. R., I. R. Tibbetts and M. J. Sheaves. 2002. The influence of increased line-fishing mortality on the sex ratio and age of sex reversal of the venus tusk fish. *Journal of Fish Biology* 60: 301-318.
- Pomiankowski, A. 1988. The evolution of female mate preference for male genetic quality. pp.
 136-184 *in* Harvey, P. and L. Partridge, eds. Oxford surveys in evolutionary biology. Vol.
 5. Oxford University Press, Oxford.
- Powell, G. C., K. E. James and C. L. Hurd. 1973. Ability of male king crab, *Paralithodes camtschatica*, to mate repeatedly, Kodiak, Alaska, 1973. *Fish Bulletin* 72: 171–179.
- Provost, M. M. and O. P. Jensen. 2015. The impacts of fishing on hermaphroditic species and treatment of sex change in stock assessments. *Fisheries* 40: 536-545.

- Punt, A. E., P. A. Garratt, and A. Govender. 1993. On an approach for applying per-recruit measures to a protogynous hermaphrodite, with an illustration for the slinger *Chrysoblephus puniceus* (Pisces: Sparidae). *S. Afr. J. Sci.* 13: 109–119.
- Reavis, R.H. and M.S. Grober. 1999. An integrative approach to sex change: social, behavioural and neurochemical changes in *Lythrypnus dalli*. *Acta Ethologica* 2: 51-60.
- Ricker, W. E. 1981. Changes in the average size and average age of Pacific Salmon. *Canadian* Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences 38(12): 1636-1656.
- Rideout, R. M., G. A. Rose, and M. P. M. Burton. 2005. Skipped spawning in female iteroparous fishes. *Fish and Fisheries* 6(1): 50-72.
- Rideout, R. M. and J. Tomkiewicz. 2011. Skipped Spawning in Fishes: More Common than You Might Think. *Marine and Coastal Fisheries* 3(1): 176-189.
- Ridley, M. and C. Rechten. 1981. Female Sticklebacks Prefer to Spawn with Males Whose Nests Contain Eggs. *Behaviour*76(1): 152-161.
- Robertson, D. R. 1972. Social control of sex reversal in coral-reef fish. *Science* 177(4053): 1007-1009.
- Rodgers, E. W., S. Drane, and M. S. Grober. 2005. Sex reversal in pairs of *Lythrypnus dalli*: behavioral and morphological changes. *Biological Bulletin* 208: 120-126.
- Rogers, L. 2003. Odds-playing and the timing of sex change in uncertain environments: you bet your wrasse. *Behavioral Ecology* 14: 447–450.
- Rohwer, S. 1978. Parent Cannibalism of Offspring and Egg Raiding as a Courtship Strategy. *The American Naturalist*. 112(984): 429-440.
- Ross, R. M., G. M. Losey, and M. Diamond. 1983. Sex change in a coral-reef fish: dependence of stimulation and inhibition on relative size. *Science* 221: 753-755.

- Ross, R. M. 1987. Sex-Change Linked Growth Acceleration in a Coral-Reef Fish, *Thalassoma duperrey*. *The Journal of Experimental Zoology* 244: 455-461.
- Rowe, S. and J. A. Hutchings. 2003. Mating systems and the conservation of commercially exploited marine fish. *TRENDS in Ecology and Evolution* 18(11): 567-572.
- Ricker, W.E. 1981. Changes in the average size and average age of Pacific salmon. *Canadian* Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Science 38: 1636–1656.
- Russ, G. R. 1991. Coral Reef fisheries: effects and yields. In *The Ecology of Fishes on Coral Reefs* (Sale, P., ed.), pp. 601–635. Orlando: Academic Press.
- Sadovy, Y. 1994. Grouper stocks of the western Central Atlantic: the need for management and management needs. *Proceedings of the Gulf and Caribbean Fisheries Institute* 43: 43-64.
- Sadovy, Y. 2001. The threat of fishing to highly fecund fishes. *Journal of Fish Biology* 59: 90-108.
- Sadovy, Y. and D. Y. Shapiro. 1987. Criteria for the diagnosis of hermaphroditism in fishes. *Copeia* 1: 136–156.
- Sakai, Y. 1997. Alternative spawning tactics of female angelfish according to two different contexts of sex change. *Behavioral ecology* 8(4): 372-377.
- Sakai, Y. and M. Kohda. 1997. Harem structure of the protogynous angelfish, *Centropyge ferrugatus* (Pomacanthidae). *Environmental Biology of Fishes* 49(3): 333-339.
- Sainte-Marie, B., J. M. Sevigny and Y. Gauthier. 1997. Laboratory behavior of adolescent and adult males of the snow crab (*Chionoecetes opilio*) (Brachyura: Majidae) mated noncompetitively and competitively with primiparous females. *Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences* 54: 239–248.

- Sargent, R. C. 1988. Paternal Care and Egg Survival Both Increase with Clutch Size in the Fathead Minnow. *Behavioral Ecology and Sociobiology* 23(1): 33-37.
- Schram, M. J. and M. A. Steele. 2016. Environmental Factors Influencing Reproduction in a Temperate Marine Reef Goby, *Rhinogobiops nicholsii*, and Associated Behaviors. *Bull. Southern California Acad. Sci* 115(3): 176-190.
- Sewell, M. A. 1994. Small Size, Brooding, and Protandry in the Apodid Sea Cucumber Leptosynapta clarki. Biological Bulletin 187(1): 112-123.
- Shanks, A. L., B. A. Grantham, and M. H. Carr. 2003. Propagule dispersal distance and the size and spacing of marine reserves. *Ecological Applications* 13(1): S159-S169.
- Shapiro, D. Y. 1979. Social behavior, group structure, and the control of sex reversal in hermaphroditic fish. *Adv. Study Behav.* 10: 43-102.
- Shapiro, D. Y. 1981. Size, maturation and the social control of sex reversal in the coral reef fish *Anthias squamipinnis*. J. Zool. Lond. 193: 105-128.
- Shapiro, D. Y. 1987. Reproduction in groupers. pp. 295-327. In: J. J. Polovina and S. Ralston (ed.) Tropical Snappers and Groupers: Biology and Fisheries Management. Westview Press, Boulder.
- Shapiro, D. Y. and R. Lubbock. 1980. Group sex ratio and sex reversal. *Journal of Theoretical Biology* 82: 411–426.
- Shapiro, D. Y., A. Marconato and T. Yoshikawa. 1994. Sperm economy in a coral reef fish, *Thalassoma bifasciatum. Ecology* 75: 1334–1344.
- Shepherd, S. A., J. B. Brook, and Y. Xiao. 2010. Environmental and fishing effects on the abundance, size and sex ratio of the blue-throated wrasse, *Notolabrus tetricus*, on South Australian coastal reefs. *Fisheries Management and Ecology* 17(3): 209-220.

- Sinclair, A. F., D. P. Swain, and J. M. Hanson. 2002. Measuring changes in the direction and magnitude of size-selective mortality in a commercial fish population. *Canadian Journal* of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences 59(2): 361-371.
- Smith, C. L. 1982. Patterns of reproduction of coral reef fishes. pp. 49-66. In: G.R. Huntsman,
 W.R. Nicholson & W.W. Fox. Jr. (ed.) The Biological Basis for Reef Fishery
 Management, NOAA Technical Memorandum NMFS-SEFC-80, Beaufort Laboratory,
 Beaufort.
- Smith, B. D. and G. S. Jamieson. 1991. Possible consequences of intensive fishing for males on the mating opportunities of Dungeness crab. *Transactions of the American Fisheries Society*. 120: 650–653.
- Smuts, B. B. 1987. Sexual competition and mate choice. Pages 385-399 in B. B. Smuts, D. L. Cheney, R. M. Seyfarth, R. W. Wrangham, and T. T. Struhsaker, eds. *Primate societies*. University of Chicago Press, Chicago.
- Solomon-Lane, T. K, M. C. Willis, D. S. Pradhan, and M. S. Grober. 2014. Female, but not male, agonistic behaviour is associated with mal reproductive success in stable bluebanded goby (*Lythrypnus dalli*) hierarchies. *Behaviour* 151: 1367-1387.
- St. Mary, C. M. 1993. Novel sexual patterns in two simultaneously hermaphroditic gobies, *Lythrypnus dalli* and *Lythrypnus zebra*. *Copeia* (4): 1062-1072.
- St. Mary, C. M. 1994. Sex allocation in a simultaneous hermaphrodite, the blue-banded goby (*Lythrypnus dalli*): the effects of body size and behavioral gender and the consequences for reproduction. *Behavioral Ecology* 5(3): 304-313.

- Stanley, B. V. and R. J. Wootton. 1986. Effects of ration and male density on the territoriality and nest-building of male three-spined sticklebacks (*Gasterosteus aculeatus* L.). Animal Behavior 34(2): 527-535.
- Steele, M. A. 1997. The relative importance of processes affecting recruitment of two temperate reef fishes. *Ecology* 78: 129-145.
- Stergiou, K. I., G. Petrakis, and Ch. -Y. Politou. 1997. Size selectivity of diamond and square mesh cod-ends for *Nephrops norvegicus* in the Aegean Sea. *Fisheries Research* 29(3): 203-209.
- Stokes, K. and R. Law. 2000. Fishing as an evolutionary force. *Marine Ecology Progress Series* 208: 307-309.
- Sutter, D. A. H., C. D. Suski, D. P. Philipp, T. Klefoth, D. H. Wahl, P. Kersten, S. J. Cooke, and R. Arlinghaus. 2012. Recreational fishing selectively captures individuals with the highest fitness potential. *Proceedings of the National Academy Sciences* 109: 20960-20965.
- Trivers, R. L. 1972. Parental investment and sexual selection. Pages 136-179 *in* B. G. Campbell,ed. Sexual selection and the descent of man, 1871-1971. Aldine, Chicago.
- U.S. Office of the Federal Register. 1996. Part II, Department of Commerce: fisheries of the Caribbean, Gulf of Mexico, and South Atlantic; interim final rule. Federal Register 61:129.
- van Rooij, J.M., J. H. Bruggemann, J. J. Videler and A. M. Breeman. 1995. Plastic growth of the herbivorous reef fish *Sparisoma viride*: field evidence for a trade-off between growth and reproduction. *Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser.* 122: 93–105.

- van Rooij, J., J. P. Kok and J. J. Videler. 1996. Local variability in population structure and density of the protogynous reef herbivore *Sparisoma viride*. *Environ. Biol. Fishes* 47: 65– 80.
- Vincent, A. and Y. Sadovy. 1998. Reproductive ecology in the conservation and management of fish. In *Behavioral Ecology and Conservation Biology* (Caro, T., ed.), pp. 209-245, Oxford University Press.
- Walker, S. P. W. and M. I. McCormick. 2004. Otolith-check formation and accelerated growth associated with sex change in an annual protogynous tropical fish. *Marine Ecology Progress Series* 266: 201-212.
- Walker, S. P. W., C. A. Ryen, and M. I. McCormick. 2007. Rapid larval growth predisposes sex change and sexual size dimorphism in a protogynous hermaphrodite, *Parapercis snyderi* Jordan & Starks 1905. *Journal of Fish Biology* 71: 1347-1357.
- Warner, R. R. 1970. Mating Behavior and Hermaphroditism in Coral Reef Fishes. *American Scientist* 72: 128-136.
- Warner, R. R. 1975. The reproductive biology of the protogynous hermaphrodite *Pimelometopon pulchrum* (Pisces: Labridae). *Fisheries Bulletin* 73: 262-283.
- Warner, R. R. 1988. Sex change and the size-advantage model. Trends Ecol. Evol. 3: 133–136.
- Warner, R. R. 1991. The use of phenotypic plasticity in coral reef fishes as tests of theory in evolutionary ecology. In: *The Ecology of fishes on coral reefs*. Academic Press, San Diego, pp. 387-340.
- Warner, R. R. 1997. Sperm Allocation in Coral Reef Fishes. *BioScience* 47(9): 561-564.
- Warner, R. R. and S. G. Hoffman. 1980. Population density and the economics of territorial defense in a coral reef fish. *Ecology* 61: 772-780.

- Warner, R. R. and S. E. Swearer. 1991. Social control of sex change in the Bluehead Wrasse, *Thalassoma bifasciatum* (Pisces, Labridae). *Biological Bulletin* 181: 199–204.
- Warner, R. R., D. Y. Shapiro, A. Marcanato, and C. W. Peterson. 1995. Sexual Conflict: Males with Highest Mating Success Convey the Lowest Fertilization Benefits to Females. *Proceedings: Biological Sciences* 262(1364): 135-139.
- Wasser, S. K. 1983. Reproductive competition and cooperation among female yellow baboons.Pages 349-390 in S. K. Wasser, ed. *Social behavior female vertebrates*. Academic Press, New York.
- White, J. W., B. J. Cole, G. N. Cherr, R. E. Connon, and S. M. Brander. 2017. Scaling Up Endocrine Disruption Effects from Individuals to Populations: Outcomes Depend on How Many Males a Population Needs. *Environmental Science and Technology* 51(3): 1802-1810.
- Wiley, J. W. 1976. Life histories and systematics of the western North American gobies Lythrypnus dalli (Gilbert) and Lythypnus zebra (Gilbert). Transactions of the San Diego Society of Natural History 18: 169-183.
- Wong, M. Y. L., P. M. Buston, P. L. Munday, and G. P. Jones. 2007. The threat of punishment enforces peaceful cooperation and stabilizes queues in a coral-reef fish. *Proceedings of the Royal Society of London B* 274: 1093-1099.
- Wyanski, D. M., D. B. White, and C. A. Barans. 2000. Growth, population age structure, and aspects of the reproductive biology of Snowy Grouper, *Epinephelus niveatus*, off North Carolina and South Carolina. *Fishery Bulletin* 98:199–218.
- Yund, P. O. 2000. How severe is sperm limitation in natural populations of marine freespawners? *Trends in Ecology and Evolution* 15: 10-13.

TABLES

Table 1. Generalized linear model (GLM; Poisson with overdispersion) results testing the relationship between sex ratio and the per capita production of *Lythrypnus dalli* males. The Δ AICc shows the difference in AICc between the 'best' models (A and B) and the full model (C).

Model	Factor	df	χ^2	р	ΔAICc
A	Sex ratio	1, 17	14.38	<0.001	0
В	Sex ratio	1, 16	4.93	0.026	1.92
	Average male size (mm)	1, 16	0.02	0.877	
С	Sex ratio	1, 13	4.33	0.036	11.47
	Block	1, 13	0.13	0.724	
	Sex ratio * Block	1, 13	4.91	0.027	
	Average male size (mm)	1, 13	0.15	0.695	
	Average female size (mm)	1, 13	0.47	0.492	

Model	Factor	df	χ^2	р	ΔAICc
A	Sex ratio	1, 17	18.53	<0.001	0
	Block	1, 17	3.66	0.056	
	Average female size (mm)	1, 17	4.88	0.027	
В	Sex ratio	1, 15	6.24	0.013	8.82
	Block	1, 15	3.79	0.052	
	Sex ratio * Block	1, 15	0.17	0.678	
	Average male size (mm)	1, 15	0.23	0.632	
	Average female size (mm)	1, 15	5.09	0.024	

Table 2. Generalized linear model (GLM; Poisson with overdispersion) results testing the relationship between sex ratio and the per capita production of *Rhinogobiops nicholsii* males. The Δ AICc shows the difference in AICc between the 'best' (A) and the full (B) model.

Table 3. Generalized linear model (GLM; Poisson with overdispersion) results testing the relationship between sex ratio and the average production per clutch of *Rhinogobiops nicholsii*. The \triangle AICc shows the difference in AICc between the 'best' models (A and B) and the full (C) model.

Model	Factor	df	χ^2	р	ΔAICc
A	Sex ratio	1, 19	4.75	0.029	0
В	Sex ratio	1, 18	4.59	0.032	1.77
	Average female size (mm)	1, 18	0.12	0.729	
С	Sex ratio	1, 15	8.17	0.004	10.68
	Block	1, 15	3.00	0.083	
	Sex ratio * Block	1, 15	0.14	0.705	
	Average male size (mm)	1, 15	2.01	0.156	
	Average female size (mm)	1, 15	1.87	0.172	

Factor	df	SS	F	р
Breeding season				
Specific sex change	3, 144	14.08	23.75	<0.001
Initial size (mm)	1, 144	13.05	68.32	<0.001
Non-breeding season				
Specific sex change	3, 188	2.28	5.27	0.001
Block	1, 188	1.04	7.18	0.008
Sex change * Block	3, 188	0.65	1.51	0.213
Initial size (mm)	1, 188	3.63	25.19	<0.001

Table 4. Analysis of covariance (ANCOVA) results testing the relationship between the type of sex change and the growth rate of *Rhinogobiops nicholsii*.

FIGURES



Figure 1. The two species used for the field manipulations in this study: (a) bluebanded goby (*Lythrypnus dalli*) and (b) blackeye goby (*Rhinogobiops nicholsii*). Source: Weiwei Gao (www.weiweigao.com).



Figure 2. A map of the study site, Big Fisherman Cove, located on the western end of Santa Catalina Island and adjacent to the Wrigley Marine Science Center. The gray squares within the cove represent the artificial reefs used in this study. Block 1 and block 2 are outlined in red and blue, respectively. Map adapted from Schram and Steele 2016.



Figure 3. The artificial reefs located in Big Fisherman Cove, Santa Catalina Island, California. (a) Side view showing the cage covering an artificial reef, with a diver for scale. (b) Top-down view of a reef with the cage removed, showing the 4 subreefs within each reef.



Figure 4. The artificial nests used for (a) *Lythrypnus dalli* and (b) *Rhinogobiops nicholsii*. *L. dalli* reefs were equipped with sixteen 15.2 cm PVC tubes while *R. nicholsii* reefs used five overturned terra cotta saucers.


Figure 5. The visual implant elastomer (VIE) tagging scheme used to mark the standard length and sex for *Lythrypnus dalli* individuals. Marks on (a) the left and (b) right side of the fish. A similar tagging scheme was used for *Rhinogobiops nicholsii*.



Figure 6. *Lythrypnus dalli* egg broods were manually counted using the ImageJ image processing program to determine brood size. (a) Unprocessed photo of an *L. dalli* egg brood and (b) the manually counted brood with a mark placed over each egg.



Figure 7. *Rhinogobiops nicholsii* egg broods were subsampled to determine brood size. First, the area of the brood was calculated by (a) outlining the brood in the ImageJ Processing Program. Second, (b) a 1x1 cm grid was imposed on top of the picture and 5 randomly selected cells were counted to obtain the average egg density. Brood size was calculated by multiplying the calculated area by the average egg density.



Figure 8. Size structure of all (a) *Lythrypnus dalli* and (b) *Rhinogobiops nicholsii* individuals collected from natural reefs throughout the summer field seasons (2015-2017).



Figure 9. The proportion of males (i.e., sex ratio) of (a) *Lythrypnus dalli* and (b) *Rhinogobiops nicholsii* that were caught during each collection dive throughout the field season. Red lines represent the two extremes of the sex ratio treatments in the manipulative portion of this study. Dashed lines represent natural sex ratios reported in previous studies.



Figure 10. Fertilization function for bluebanded gobies. Shown is the relationship between the proportion of males (i.e., sex ratio) and the fertilization rate (proportion of fertilized eggs on each reef) in *Lythrypnus dalli*.



Figure 11. The relationship between sex ratio and the (a) total number of eggs per reef, (b) the female per capita production per reef, (c) the male per capita production per reef, (d) the average number of eggs per nest, and the (e) average number of eggs per clutch for *Lythrypnus dalli*.



Figure 12. The relationship between sex ratio and the (a) number of nests per reef and the (b) percentage of males that nested on each reef in *Lythrypnus dalli*.



Figure 13. The relationship between sex ratio and the (a) number of clutches per reef and the (b) average number of clutches per nest in *Lythrypnus dalli*.



Figure 14. Fertilization function for *Rhinogobiops nicholsii*. Shown is the relationship between the proportion of males (i.e., sex ratio) and the fertilization rate (proportion of eggs in each nest fertilized) in *R. nicholsii*.



Figure 15. The relationship between sex ratio and the (a) total number of eggs per reef, (b) the female per capita production per reef, (c) the male per capita production per reef, (d) the average number of eggs per nest, and the (e) average number of eggs per clutch for *Rhinogobiops nicholsii*.



Figure 16. The relationship between sex ratio and the (a) number of nests per reef and the (b) percentage of males that nested on each reef in *Rhinogobiops nicholsii*.



Figure 17. The relationship between sex ratio and the (a) number of clutches per reef and the (b) average number of clutches per nest in *Rhinogobiops nicholsii*.



Figure 18. The growth per week of *Rhinogobiops nicholsii* individuals separated by block during the (a) breeding and (b) non-breeding season. The bars represent the sex of the individual at the time of placement on the reefs and the sex of the individual after recollection (~4 weeks). Transitional fish were females that were undergoing sex change to male but were not considered functionally male yet. Error bars are standard error.



Figure 19. The relationship between growth and the initial size of *Rhinogobiops nicholsii* individuals during the (a) breeding and (b) non-breeding season.



Figure 20. The relationship between sex ratio and the proportion of females on each reef that changed sex (from female to male) in *Rhinogobiops nicholsii* during the (a) breeding and (b) non-breeding season.